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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Directors and Management:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Consumers Energy Company as of December 31,
2009 and 2008 and the related statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for the years then
ended, included on pages 110 through 121 of the accompanying Michigan Public Service Commission
Form P-521. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in the 'Basis of Presentation’ section of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
these financial statements were prepared in accordance with the accounting requirements of the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission as set forth in its applicable Uniform System of Accounts and published
accounting releases, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Consumers Energy Company as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the accounting requirements of
the Michigan Public Service Commission as set forth in its applicable Uniform System of Accounts and
published accounting releases.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the board of directors and management of
Consumers Energy Company and for filing with the Michigan Public Service Commission and should not

be used for any other purpose.
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MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ANNUAL REPORT OF ELECTRIC UTILITIES (MAJOR AND NON-MAJOR)

This form is authorized by 1919 PA 419, as amended, authorizes this form
being MCL 460.51 et seq.; and 1969 PA 306, as amended, being MCL
24.201 et seq. Filing of this form is mandatory. Failure to complete and
submit this form will place you violation of the Acts.

Report submitted for year ending:
December 31, 2009

Present name of respondent:
Consumers Energy Company

Address of principal place of business:
One Energy Plaza, Jackson, Mi 49201

Utility representative to whom inquires regarding this report may be directed:

Name: Thomas J. Webb Title: Executive VP and CFO

Address: One Energy Plaza

City: Jackson State: Mi Zip:

49201

Telephone, Including Area Code: (517) 788-0351

If the utility name has been changed during the past year:

Prior Name:

Date of Change:

Two copies of the published annual report to stockholders:

[ X 1 were forwarded to the Commission
[ 1 will be forwared to the Commission
on or about

Annual reports to stockholders:

[ X | are published
[ ] are not published

FOR ASSISTANCE IN COMPLETION OF THIS FORM:

Contact the Michigan Public Service Commission (Bill Stosik) at

(517) 241-5853 or bmstosi@michigan.gov OR forward correspondence to:

Regulated Energy Division (Bill Stosik)
Financial Analysis and Customer Choice Section
6545 Mercantile Way
P.O. Box 30221
Lansing, Mi 48909




INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE FILING OF THE ANNUAL REPORT OF
MAJOR AND NONMAJOR ELECTRIC UTILITIES

GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Purpose:
By authority conferred upon the Michigan Public Service Commission by 1909 PA 106, as amended,

being MCL 460.556 et seq. and 1969 PA 306, as amended, being MCL 24.201 et seq., this form is a
regulatory support requirement. It is designed to collect financial and operational information from
public utilities, licensees and others subject to the jurisdiction of the Michigan Public Service
Commission. This report is a nonconfidential public use form.

. Who Must Submit:
Each major and nonmajor public utility, licensee, or other, as classified in the Commission's Uniform
System of Accounts Prescribed for Public Utilities and Licensees must submit this form.

NOTE: Major utilities means utilities that had, in each of the last three consecutive years,
sales or transmission service that exceeded any one or more of the following:

(a) one million megawatt-hours of total sales;

(b) 100 megawatt-hours of sales for resale;

(c) 500 megawatt-hours of gross interchange out; or

(d) 500 megawatt-hours of wheeling for others (deliveries plus losses)

1l What and Where to Submit:
(a) Submit an original copy of this form to:

Michigan Public Service Commission (Regulated Energy Division)
Financial Analysis and Customer Choice Section

6545 Mercantile Way

P.O. Box 30221

Lansing, MI 48909

Retain one copy of this report for your files. Also submit the electronic version of this
record to Bill Stosik at the address below or to bmstosi@michigan.gov

(b) Submit immediately upon publication, one (1) copy of the latest annual report to
stockholders and any annual financial or statistical report regularly prepared and
distributed to bondholders, security analyst, or industry association. Do not include
monthly and quarterly reports. If reports to stockholders are not prepared, enter "NA"
in column (c) on Page 4, the List of Schedules.) Mail these reports to:

Michigan Public Service Commission (Regulated Energy Division)
Financial Analysis and Customer Choice Section

6545 Mercantile Way

P.O. Box 30221

Lansing, Ml 48909

(c) For the CPA certification, submit with the original submission, or within 30 days after
the filing date for this form, a letter or report:

(i) Attesting to the conformity, in all material aspects, of the below listed
(schedules and) pages with the Commission's applicable Uniform
Systems of Accounts (including applicable notes relating thereto and the
Chief Accountant's published accounting releases), and

(i) Signed by independent certified public accountants or an independent
licensed public accountant, certified or licensed by a regulatory authority
or a state or other political subdivision of the U.S. (See 18 CFR 41.10-
41.12 for specific qualifications).
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IV. When to Submit

Schedules Reference Page

Comparative Balance Sheet 110-113
Statement of Income 114 - 117
Statement of Retained Earnings 118 -119
Statement of Cash Flows 120 - 121
Notes to Financial Statements 122 - 123

When accompanying this form, insert the letter or report immediately following the
cover sheet. Use the following form for the letter or report unless unusual
circumstances or conditions, explained in the letter or report, demand that it be varied.
Insert parenthetical phrases only when exceptions are reported.

In connection with our regular examination of the financial statements of

for the year ended on which we have reported separately under the
date of we have also reviewed schedules of
Form P-521 for the year filed with the Michigan Public Service
Commission as set forth in its applicable Uniform System of Accounts and
published accounting releases. Our review for this purpose included such
tests of accounting records and such other auditing procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

Based on our review, in our opinion the accompanying schedules identified
in the preceding paragraph: (except as noted below) conform in all material
respects with the accounting requirements of the Michigan Public Service
Commission as set forth in its applicable Uniform System of Accounts and
published accounting releases.

State in the letter or report which, if any, of the pages above do not conform to the
Commission's requirements. Describe the discrepancies that exist.

(d) Federal, state, and local governments and other authorized user may obtain additional
blank copies to meet their requirements for a charge from:

Michigan Public Service Commission (Regulated Energy Division)
Financial Analysis and Customer Choice Section

6545 Mercantile Way

P.O. Box 30221

Lansing, Ml 48909

Submit this report form on or before April 30 of the year following the year covered by this report.

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

balances

I Prepare this report in conformity with the Uniform System of Accounts (USOA). Interpret all
accounting words and phrases in accordance with the USOA.
[ Enter in whole number (dollars or MWH) only, except where otherwise noted. (Enter cents for

averages and figures per unit where cents are important. The truncating of cents is allowed except on
the four basic financial statements where rounding is required). The amounts shown on all supporting
pages must agree with the amounts entered on the statements that they support. When applying
thresholds to determine significance for reporting purposes, use for balance sheet accounts the

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04)

Page ii




v.

VL

Vil.

VIl

Xl.

Xil.

XiiL.

at the end of the current reporting year, and use for statement of income accounts the current year's
accounts.

Complete each question fully and accurately, even if it has been answered in a previous annual report.
Enter the word "NONE" where it truly and completely states the fact.

For any page(s) that is not applicable to respondent, either

(@) Enter the words "NOT APPLICABLE" on the particular page(s), OR

(b) Omit the page(s) and enter "NA", "NONE", or "NOT APPLICABLE" in column (c) on the
List of Schedules, pages 2, 3, 4 and 5.

Complete this report by means which result in a permanent record. Complete the original copy in
permanent black ink or typewriter print, if practical. Additional copies must be clear and readable.

Enter the month, day, and year for all dates. Use customary abbreviations. The "Date of Report"
included in the header of each page is to be completed only for resubmissions (See VIIl. below). The
date of the resubmission must be reported in the header for all form pages, whether or not they are
changed from the previous filing.

Indicate negative amounts (such as decreases) by enclosing the figures in parentheses ( ).

When making revisions, resubmit only those pages that have been changed from the original
submission. Submit the same number of copies as required for filing the form. Include with the
resubmission the identification and Attestation page, page 1. Mail dated resubmissions to:

Michigan Public Service Commission (Regulated Energy Division)
Financial Analysis and Customer Choice Section

6545 Mercantile Way

P.O. Box 30221

Lansing, Ml 48909

Provide a supplemental statement further explaining accounts or pages as necessary. Attach the
supplemental statement (8 1/2 x 11 inch size) to the page being supplemented. Provide the
appropriate identification information, including the title(s) of the page and page number supplemented.

Do not make references to reports of previous years or to other reports in lieu of required entries,
except as specifically authorized.

Wherever (schedule) pages refer to figures from a previous year, the figures reported must be based
upon those shown by the annual report of the previous year, or an appropriate explanation given as to
why the different figures were used.

Respondents may submit computer printed schedules (reduced to 8 1/2 x 11 inch size) instead of the
preprinted schedules if they are in substantially the same format.

A copy of the FERC Annual Report Form is acceptable to substitute for the same schedules of this
report.

DEFINITIONS

Commission Authorization (Comm. Auth.) - The authorization of the Michigan Public Service
Commission, or any other Commission. Name the Commission whose authorization was obtained and

give the date of the authorization.

Respondent - The person, corporation, licensee, agency, authority, or other legal entity or
instrumentality in whose behalf the report is made.

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page iii




MPSC FORM P-521

ANNUAL REPORT OF ELECTRIC UTILITIES, LICENSEES AND OTHERS (Major and Nonmajor)

IDENTIFICATION

01 Exact Legal Name of Respondent

Consumers Energy Company

02 Year of Report

December 31, 2009

03 Previous Name and Date of Change (if name changed during year)

One Energy Plaza, Jackson, Ml 49201

04 Address of Principal Business Office at End of Year (Street, City, St., Zip)

05 Name of Contact Person

Thomas J. Webb

06 Title of Contact Person

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

07 Address of Contact Person (Street, City, St., Zip)

One Energy Plaza, Jackson, Ml 49201

08 Telephone of Contact Person, Including Area Code: 09 This Report is: 10 Date of Report
(1)I 1An Original (Mo, Da,YTr)
(517) 788-0351
(2) [ X1 A Resubmission June 15, 2015
ATTESTATION

31 of the year of the report.

The undersigned officer certifies that he/she has examined the accompanying report; that to the best of his/her
knowledge, information, and belief, all statements of fact contained in the accompanying report are true and the
accompanying report is a correct statement of the business and affairs of the above named respondent in respect
to each and every matter set forth therein during the period from and including January 1 and including December

Financial Officer

01 Name 03 Signature
Thomas J. Webb -

02 Title e
Executive Vice President and Chief - e

04 Date Signed

(Mo, Da,Yr)

June 15, 2015

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 1




Name of Respondent This Report Is:
(D[ ]An Original

Consumers Energy Company (2) [ X ] A Resubmission

Date of Report
(Mo, Da, Yr)
6/15/2015

Year of Report
December 31, 2009

LIST OF SCHEDULES (Electric Utility)

1. Enter in column (c) the terms "none", "not applicable”, or "NA", as
appropriate, where no information or amounts have been reported for
certain pages. Omit pages where the responses are "none", "not
applicable”, or "NA".

2. The "M" prefix below denotes those pages where
the information requested by the MPSC differs from
that requested by FERC. Each of these pages also
contains the "M" designation on the page itself.

Title of Schedule Reference Remarks
Page No.
(a) (b) (c)
GENERAL CORPORATE
INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
General Information 101
Control Over Respondent & Other Associated Companies M 102
Corporations Controlled by Respondent 103
Officers and Employees M 104
Directors M 105
Security Holders and Voting Powers M 106-107
Important Changes During the Year 108-109
Comparative Balance Sheet M 110-113
Statement of Income for the Year 114-117
Statement of Retained Earnings for the Year 118-119
Statement of Cash Flows 120-121
Notes to Financial Statements 122-123
BALANCE SHEET SUPPORTING SCHEDULES
(Assets and Other Debits)

Summary of Utility Plant and Accumulated Provisions

for Depreciation, Amortization, and Depletion 200-201
Nuclear Fuel Materials 202-203
Electric Plant in Service M 204-211
Electric Plant Leased to Others 213 NONE
Electric Plant Held for Future Use 214
Construction Work in Progress - Electric M 218
Construction Overheads - Electric 217
General Description of Construction Overhead Procedure M 218
Accumulated Provision for Depreciation of Electric Utility Plant M 219
Nonutility Property M 221
Investment is Subsidiary Companies 224-225
Materials and Supply 227
Allowances 228-229
Extraordinary Property Losses 230B NONE
Unrecovered Plant and Regulatory Study Costs 230B NONE
Other Regulatory Assets M 232
Miscellaneous Deferred Debits M 233
Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes (Account 190) M 234A-B

BALANCE SHEET SUPPORTING SCHEDULES
(Liabilities and Credits)

Capital Stock 250-251
Capital Stock Subscribed, Capital Stock Liability 252

for Conversion Premium on Capital Stock, and Installments

Received on Capital Stock

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 2




Name of Respondent This Report Is:
(D[ ]1An Original

Consumers Energy Company (2) [ X ] A Resubmission

Date of Report
(Mo, Da, Yr)
6/15/2015

Year of Report

LIST OF SCHEDULES (Electric Utility) (Continued)

Title of Schedule Reference Remarks
Page No.
(a) (b) (]
BALANCE SHEET SUPPORTING SCHEDULES
(Liabilities and Other Credits) (Continued)

Other Paid-In Capital 253
Discount on Capital Stock 254
Capital Stock Expense 254
Long-Term Debt 256-257
Recongciliation of Reported Net Income with Taxable

Income for Federal Income Tax M 261A-B
Calculation of Federal Income Tax
Taxes Accrued, Prepaid and Charged During Year M 262-263
Distribution of Taxes Charged M 262-263
Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes - Accelerated

Amortization Property M 272-273 NONE
Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes - Other Property M 274-275
Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes - Other M 276A-B
Other Regulatory Liabilities M 278

INCOME ACCOUNT SUPPORTING SCHEDULES

Electric Operating Revenues M 300-301
Sales of Electricity by Rate Schedules 304
Sales for Resale 310-311
Electric Operation and Maintenance Expenses 320-323
Number of Electric Department Employees 323
Purchased Power 326-327
Transmission of Electricity for Others 328-330 NONE
Transmission of Electricity by Others 332
Miscellaneous General Expenses - Electric M 335
Depreciation and Amortization of Electric Plant M 336-337
Particulars Concerning Certain Income Deduction and

Interest Charges Accounts 340

COMMON SECTION
Regulatory Commission Expenses 350-351
Research, Development and Demonstration Activities 352-353 NONE
Distribution of Salaries and Wages 354-355
Common Utility Plant and Expenses 356
ELECTRIC PLANT STATISTICAL DATA

Monthly Transmission System Peak Load M 400 NONE
Electric Energy Account 401
Monthly Peaks and Output 401
Steam-Electric Generating Plant Statistics (Large Plants) 402-403 RESUBMISSION
Hydroelectric Generating Plant Statistics (Large Plants) 406-407 RESUBMISSION
Pumped Storage Generating Plant Statistics (Large Plants) 408-409 RESUBMISSION
Generating Plant Statistics (Small Plants) 410-411 RESUBMISSION

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 3
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Name of Respondent This Report Is:
(1)[ 1An Original

Consumers Energy Company (2) [ X ] A Resubmission

Date of Report
(Mo, Da, Yr)

6/15/2015

Year of Report
December 31, 2009

LIST OF SCHEDULES (Electric Utility) (Continued)

Title of Schedule Reference Remarks
Page No.
(a) (b) (©)
ELECTRIC PLANT STATISTICAL DATA
(Continued)
Transmission Line Stafistics 422-423 NONE
Transmission Lines Added During Year 424-425 NONE
Substations 426-427
Electric Distribution Meters and Line Transformers 429
Environmental Protection Facilities 430
Environmental Protection Expenses 431
Footnote Data 450
Stockholders' Report -
MPSC SCHEDULES

Reconciliation of Deferred Income Tax Expense 117A-B
Operating Loss Carry Forward 117C
Plant Acquisition Adjustments and Accumulated Provision

for Amortization of Plant Acquisition Adjustments 215 NONE
Construction Work In Progress and Completed Construction

Not Classified - Electric 216
Accumulated Provision for Depreciation and

Amortization of Nonutility Property 221
Investments 222-223
Notes & Accounts Receivable Summary for Balance Sheet 226A
Accumulated Provision for Uncollectible Accounts - Credit 226A
Receivables From Associated Companies 226B
Production Fuel and Oil Stocks 227A-B
Miscellaneous Current and Accrued Assets 230A
Preliminary Survey and Investigation Charges 231A-B NONE
Deferred Losses fro Disposition of Utility Plant 235A-B NONE
Unamortized Loss and Gain on Reacquired Debt 237A-B
Securities issued or Assumed and Securities Refunded or

Retired During the Year 255
Notes Payable 260A NONE
Payables to Associated Companies 260B
Investment Tax Credits Generated and Utilized 264-265 NONE
Miscellaneous Current and Accrued Liabilities 268
Customer Advances for Construction 268
Other Deferred Credits 269
Deferred Gains from Disposition of Utility Plant 270A-B NONE
Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes - Temporary 277 NONE
Gain or Loss on Disposition of Property 280A-B
Income from Utility Plant Leased to Others 281 NONE
Particulars Concerning Certain Other Income Accounts 282
Electric Operation and Maintenance Expenses (Nonmajor) 320N-324N NOT APPLICABLE
Number of Electric Department Employees 234N NOT APPLICABLE
Customer Choice Sales of Electric by Rate Schedule 305
Sales to Railroads & Railways and Interdepartmental Sales 331A
Rent From Electric Property & Interdepartmental Rents 331A
Sales of Water and Water Power 331B
Misc. Service Revenues & Other Electric Revenues 331B

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 4




Name of Respondent This Report Is:
(1)[ ]An Original

Consumers Energy Company (2) [ X ] A Resubmission

Date of Report
(Mo, Da, Yr)
6/15/2015

Year of Report
December 31, 2009

LIST OF SCHEDULES (Electric Utility) (Continued)

Title of Schedule Reference Remarks
Page No.
(a) (b) (c)
MPSC SCHEDULES (Continued)

Lease Rentals Charged 333A-D
Expenditures for Certain Civic, Political and Related Activities 341
Extraordinary ltems 342 NONE
Charges for Outside Professional and

Other Consultative Services 357
Summary of Costs Billed to Associated Companies 358-359
Summary of Costs Billed from Associated Companies 360-361
Monthly Transmission System Peak Load 400
Changes Made or Scheduled to be Made in

Generating Plant Capacities 412
Steam-Electric Generating Plants 413A-B
Hydroelectric Generating Plants 414-415
Pumped Storage Generating Plants 416-418
Internal Combustion Engine and Gas

Turbine Generating Plants 420-421

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 5




Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X ] An Original (Mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company [ ]A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Provide name and title of officer having custody of the general corporate books of account and address of office
where the general corporate books are kept, and address of office where any other corporate books of account are
kept, if different from that where the general corporate books are kept.

Thomas J. Webb, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

One Energy Plaza

Jackson, Ml 49201

2. Provide the name of the State under the laws of which respondent is incorporated, and date of incorporation. If
incorporated under a special law, give reference to such law. If not incorporated, state that fact and give the type

of organization and date organized.

Incorporated in Michigan, January 22, 1968

3. If at any time during the year the property of respondent was held by a receiver or trustee, give (a) name of
receiver or trustee, (b) date such receiver or trustee took possession, (c) the authority by which the receivership or
trusteeship was created, and (d) date when possession by receiver or trustee ceased.

None

4. State the classes of utility and other services furnished by respondent during the year in each State in which
respondent operated.

Electric
Gas

All within the State of Michigan

5. Have you engaged as the principal accountant to audit your financial statements an accountant who is not the
principal accountant for your previous year's certified financial statements?

(1) [ ] Yes...Enter date when such independent accountant was initially engaged:

(2)[x] No
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X ] An Original (Mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[ 1A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

CONTROL OVER RESPONDENT & OTHER ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

1. If any corporation, business trust, or similar organization or combination of such organizations jointly held
control over the respondent at end of year, state name of controlling corporation or organization, manner in which
control was held, and extent of control. If control was in a holding company organization, show the chain of
ownership or control to the main parent company or organization. If control was held by a trustee(s), state name of
trustee(s), name of beneficiary or beneficiaries for whom trust was maintained, and purpose of the trust.

2. List any entities which respondent did not control either directly or indirectly and which did not control
respondent but which were associated companies at any time during the year.

CMS Energy Corporation owns 100% of Consumers Energy Company's outstanding common stock.
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report |Year of Report
(1) [ X ] An Original (Mo, Da, Y1)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[ 1A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

CORPORATIONS CONTROLLED BY RESPONDENT

1. Report below the names of all corporations, business trusts, and similar organizations, controlled directly or indirectly
by respondent at any time during the year. If control ceased prior to end of year, give particulars (details) in a footnote.

2. If control was by other means than a direct holding of voting rights, state in a footnote the manner in which control
was held, naming any intermediaries involved.

3. If control was held jointly with one or more other interests, state the fact in a footnote and name the other interests.

DEFINITIONS

-

winN

. See the Uniform of Accounts for a definition of control.
. Direct control is that which is exercised without interposition of an intermediary.
. Indirect control is that which is exercised by the interposition of an intermediary which exercises direct control.

4. Joint control is that in which neither interest can effectively control or direct action without the consent of the other,
as where the voting control is equally divided between two holders, or each party holds a veto power over the other.
Joint control may exist by mutual agreement or understanding between two or more parties who together have control
within the meaning of the definition of control in the Uniform System of Accounts, regardless of the relative voting rights

of each party.

Line

Name of Company Controlled

(@)

Kind of Business

(b)

Percent
Voting Stock

(©

Footnote Ref.
(d)

CMS Energy Corporation

Holding company for energy

NA

(A)B)

related business

CMS Capital, L.L.C.

Financial Services

NA

EnerBank USA

Financial Services

CMS Enterprises Company

Energy-related projects

NA

(A)

world-wide

CMS Distributed Power, L.L.C.

Dissolved 1/16/2009

NA

©

CMS Energy Asia Private Limited

NA

(©)

CMS Energy Resource Management Company

Provide marketing and risk/

NA

©)

energy management services

CMS ERM Michigan LLC

CMS Viron Corporation

CMS Energy South America Company

NA

©)

CMS Enterprises Development, L.L.C.

NA

(©)

CMS Gas Transmission Company

CMS Energy Investment LLC

Dissolved 3/19/2009

CMS Gas Argentina Company

CMS International Ventures, L.L.C.

(B)(D)

CMS Electric & Gas, L.L.C.

Nlalalala
S e e Y e e e e P S I B (2 Y B TR DN N

CMS (Barbados), SRL

CMS Venezuela, S.A.

ENELMAR S.A.

CMS Empreendimentos Ltda

CMS Generation Jegurupadu | Ltd Duration Co

©)

CMS Generation Jegurupadu Il Ltd Duration Co

(©)

Jegurupadu O&M Company Mauritius

CMS Luxembourg S.a.r.l.

Liquidated 4/30/2009

Jegurupadu CMS Generation Company Ltd.

CMS Resource Development Company

Dissolved 1/16/2009

NA

©

WINININININININD

GGS Holdings Company

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04)
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Name of Respondent

Consumers Energy Company

This Report Is:
(1) [ X] An Original
(2) [ ] A Resubmission

Date of Report | Year of Report
(Mo, Da, Yr) December 31, 2009

4/16/2010

CORPORATIONS CONTROLLED BY RESPONDENT (cont'd)

a footnote.

interests.

rights of each party.

DEFINITIONS

1. See the Uniform of Accounts for a definition of control.
2. Direct control is that which is exercised without interposition of an intermediary.
3. Indirect control is that which is exercised by the interposition of an intermediary which exercises direct control.

1. Report below the names of all corporations, business trusts, and similar organizations, controlled directly or
indirectly by respondent at any time during the year. If control ceased prior to end of year, give particulars (details) in

2. If control was by other means than a direct holding of voting rights, state in a footnote the manner in which control
was held, naming any intermediaries involved.
3. If control was held jointly with one or more other interests, state the fact in a footnote and name the other

4. Joint control is that in which neither interest can effectively control or direct action without the consent of the other,
as where the voting control is equally divided between two holders, or each party holds a veto power over the other.
Joint control may exist by mutual agreement or understanding between two or more parties who together have control
within the meaning of the definition of control in the Uniform System of Accounts, regardless of the relative voting

Percent
Line Name of Company Controlled Kind of Business Voting Stock | Footnote Ref.
(@ (b) (©) (d)

31 |HYDRA-CO Enterprises, Inc. . (9]

32 |CMS Exeter LLC

33 _|Exeter Energy Limited Partnership

34 |CMS Generation Filer City, Inc.

35 |CMS Generation Filer City Operating LLC

36 |CMS Generation Genesee Company

37 |CMS Generation Grayling Company

38 |CMS Generation Grayling Holdings Company

39 |CMS Generation Holdings Company

40 |CMS Generation Honey Lake Company

41 |Honey Lake Energy I L.P.

42 |Honey Lake Energy I, L.P.

43 |CMS Generation Michigan Power L.L.C.

44 [CMS Generation Operating Co I, Inc.

45 |HCO-Jamaica, Inc. Dissolved 6/01/2009

46 |CMS Generation Operating LLC

47 |CMS Generation Recycling Company

48 |CMS Prairie State LLC

49 |Dearborn Generation Operating, L.L.C.

50 |HCE-Biopower, Inc.

51 |IPP Investment Partnership

52 [New Bern Energy Recovery, Inc.

53 |Oxford/CMS Development Limited Partnership

54 |Sterling Wind LLC

55 |New Generation Co. Dissolved 1/26/2009

56 |CMS Land Company Purchase & develop property NA

57 |Beeland Group LLC

58 |Consumers Energy Company Energy related utility NA

59 |Consumers Power Company Financing | Financing-prefd securities 100%

60 |Consumers Energy Company Financing || Financing-prefd securities 100%
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report |Year of Report
(1) [ X ] An Original (Mo, Da, Y1)
Consumers Energy Company ) 1A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

CORPORATIONS CONTROLLED BY RESPONDENT (cont'd)
1. Report below the names of all corporations, business trusts, and similar organizations, controlled directly or
indirectly by respondent at any time during the year. If control ceased prior to end of year, give particulars (details) in a
footnote.
2. If control was by other means than a direct holding of voting rights, state in a footnote the manner in which control
was held, naming any intermediaries involved.

3. If control was held jointly with one or more other interests, state the fact in a footnote and name the other interests.
DEFINITIONS

1. See the Uniform of Accounts for a definition of control.
2. Direct control is that which is exercised without interposition of an intermediary.
3. Indirect control is that which is exercised by the interposition of an intermediary which exercises direct control.

4. Joint control is that in which neither interest can effectively control or direct action without the consent of the other,
as where the voting control is equally divided between two holders, or each party holds a veto power over the other.
Joint control may exist by mutual agreement or understanding between two or more parties who together have control
within the meaning of the definition of control in the Uniform System of Accounts, regardless of the relative voting rights

of each party.

Percent
Line Name of Company Controlled Kind of Business Voting Stock | Footnote Ref.
(a) (b) (© (d)
61 |Consumers Energy Company Financing Ili Financing-prefd securities 100%
62 [Consumers Energy Company Financing IV Financing-prefd securities 100%
63 |Consumers Energy Company Financing V Financing-prefd securities 100%
64 |Consumers Energy Company Financing VI Financing-prefd securities 100%
65 |CMS Engineering Co. Project engineering mgmt 100%
66 _|[Consumers Campus Holdings, LLC Lessee in financing of CECo 100%
67 office building
68 |Consumers Funding LLC Assignee of property transfer 100%
69 and issuer of
70 securitization bonds
71 _|Consumers Receivables Funding Il, LLC To buy certain account NA
72 receivables from Consumers
73 and sell to a third party
74 |ES Services Company Energy related services 100%

75 |Dearborn Industrial Energy, L.L.C.

76 |Dearborn Industrial Generation, L.L.C.
77 |CMS Treasury Services, LLC Intercompany cash mgmt
78 |Daviswell LLC Acquisition of disposal well
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
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FOOTNOTE DATA
Page Item Column Comments
Number Number Number
(a) (b) (¢ (d)
103 (A) d CMS Energy Corporation is the parent holding company of Respondent
and CMS Enterprises Company. They may have some common
directors and officers.
103 (B) d Under common control
103 (C) d Wholly owned subsidiary of CMS Enterprises Company
103 (D) d CMS Enterprises owns 61.49% and CMS Gas Transmission owns 37.01%
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OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES

1. Report below the name, title and salary for the five executive officers
2. Report in column (b) salaries and wages accrued during the year including deferred compensation.

compensation in column (d).

previous incumbent and the date the change in incumbency occurred.
5. Upon request, the Company will provide the Commission with supplemental information on officers
employees and salaries.

3. In column (c) report any other compensation provided, such as bonuses, car allowance, stock options and rights,
savings contribution, etc., and explain in a footnote what the amounts represent. Provide type code for other

4. If a change was made during the year in the incumbent of any position, show the name and total remuneration of the

and other

Other Type of Other
Line Name and Title Base Wages | Compensation Compensation Total Compensation
(@ (b) (©) (d) (e)
1 |David W. Joos (1) 1,085,000 971,850 |A 5,255,446
President and Chief Executive Officer 8,820 |B
3,149,451 |C
40,325 |D
2 |Thomas J. Webb (1) 665,000 329,918 |A 1,765,640
Executive Vice President and 8,820 |B
Chief Financial Officer 735,674 |C
26,228 |D
3 [John G. Russell 545,000 292,950 |A 2,135,448
President and Chief Operating Officer 8,820 |B
1,282,100 |C
6,678 |D
4 |James E. Brunner (1) 410,000 183,675 |A 1,197,140
Senior Vice President 8,820 |B
: 577,549 |C
17,096 [D
5 |John M. Butler 317,000 127,643 |A 969,315
Senior Vice President 21,070 |B
462,952 |C
40,650 |D
Footnote Data
1 |The above listed officers are those officers that are included in CMS Energy Corporation's annual Proxy Statement
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
2 |(1) These employees are also employees of CMS Energy Corp. or its subsidiaries and accordingly the appropriate
portion of their compensation is charged to these companies.
3
4
5

Compensation Type Codes: A = Executive Incentive Compensation
B = Incentive Plan (Matching Employer Contribution)
C = Stock Plans
D = Other Reimbursements
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DIRECTORS

double asterisk.

1. Report below any information called for concerning each director of the respondent who held office at any time during the
year. Include in column (a), abbreviated titles of the directors who are officers of the respondent.

2. Designate members of the Executive Committee by a triple asterisk and the Chairman of the Executive Committee by a

# of Directors
Meetings
Name and Title of Director Principal Business Address During Yr Fees During Yr (1)
(a) (b) (c) (d)

1 Merribel S. Ayres Lighthouse Consulting Group, LLC, Washington D.C. 9 75,000

2 Jon E. Barfield The Bartech Group, Inc., Livonia, Michigan 9 73,500

3 Stephen E. Ewing Franklin, Michigan 3 35,750

4 Richard M. Gabrys Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 9 77,000

5 David W. Joos One Energy Plaza, Jackson, Michigan 9 0
Chief Executive Officer

6 Philip R. Lochner, Jr. Greenwich, Connecticut 9 84,125

7 Michael T. Monahan*** Monahan Enterprises, LLC, Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 9 91,000

8 Joseph F. Paquette, Jr.*** Villanova, Pennsylvania 9 97,000

9 Percy A. Pierre Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan 9 73,500

10 Kenneth L. Way*** Naples, Florida 9 84,500

11 Kenneth Whipple** One Energy Plaza, Jackson, Michigan 9 178,500
Chairman of the Board

12 John B. Yasinsky*** Bonita Springs Florida 9 87,000

Footnote Data

1 Represents fees paid for both CMS Energy Corporation and Consumers Energy Company Board and Committee meetings.
Fees are prorated to each company on the Massachusetts formula.
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SECURITY HOLDERS AND VOTING POWERS

1. (A) Give the names and addresses of the 10 security holders of the respondent who, at the date of the latest
closing of the stock book or compilation of list of stockholders of the respondent, prior to the end of the year, had
the highest voting powers in the respondent, and state the number of votes which each would have had the right to
cast on that date if a meeting were then in order. If any such holder held in trust, give in a footnote the known
particulars of the trust (whether voting trust, etc.), duration of trust, and principal holders of beneficiary interests in
the trust. If the stock book was not closed or a list of stockholders was not compiled within one year prior to the
end of the year, or if since the previous compilation of a list of stockholders, some other class of security has
become vested with voting rights, then show such 10 security holders as of the close of the year. Arrange the
names of the security holders in the order of voting power, commencing with the highest. Show in column (a) the
titles of officers and directors included in such list of 10 security holders.

1. (B) Give also the name and indicate the voting powers resulting from ownership of securities of the respondent
of each officer and director not included in the list of 10 largest security holders.

2. If any security other than stock carries voting rights, explain in a supplemental statement the circumstances
whereby such security became vested with voting rights and give other important particulars (details) concerning
the voting rights of such security. State whether voting rights are actual or contingent; if contingent, describe the
contingency.

3. If any class or issue of security has any special privileges in the election of directors, trustees or managers, or
in the determination of corporate action by any method, explain briefly in a footnote.

4. Furnish particulars (details) concerning any options, warrants, or rights outstanding at the end of the year for
others to purchase securities of the respondent or any securities or other assets owned by the respondent,
including prices, expiration dates, and other material information relating to exercise of the options, warrants, or
rights. Specify the amount of such securities or assets so entitled to be purchased by any officer, director,
associated company, or any of the ten largest security holders. This instruction is inapplicable to convertible
securities or to any securities substantially all of which are outstanding in the hands of the general public where the
options, warrants, or rights were issued on a prorata basis.

1. Give date of the latest closing of the stock book prior to end of year, and state the purpose of such closing:

Books not closed prior to end of the year.

2. State the total number of votes cast at the latest general proxy meeting prior to the end of year for election of
directors of the respondent and number of such votes cast by proxy:

Total: 84,108,789

By Proxy: 84,108,789

3. Give the date and place of such meeting:

May 22, 2009

Jackson, Michigan
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SECURITY HOLDERS AND VOTING POWERS (Continued)

VOTING SECURITIES
Number of votes as of (date):
Name (Title) and Address of Security Holder Total Votes Common Stock Preferred Stock Other
Line (a) (b) © (d) (e)
4 |TOTAL votes all voting securities 84,550,388 84,108,789 441,599 0
5 |TOTAL number of security holders 1,632 1 1,531 0
6 |TOTAL votes of security holders listed below 84,471,357 84,108,789 362,568 0
7 |1.(A) Largest Security Holders
8 |CMS Energy Corporation 84,108,789 84,108,789
9 | One Energy Plaza
10 | Jackson, Ml 49201
11 |Cede & Co* 351,233 351,233
12 | Box 222, Bowling Green Station
13 | New York, NY 10274
14 |Mary | Kohler & Raymond Hetterich TTEE 2,000 2,000
15 | of the Arnold Kohler Trust UA Dtd 6/9/89
16 | 2049 Kansas Avenue, NE
17 | St Petersburg, FL 33703
18 |Charles M Pettee TOD Gail Densie Heldke 1,840 1,840
19 | 1027 Midway Rd
20 | Norhbrook, IL 60062-3935
21 |Roger F Pettee 1,840 1,840
22 | PO Box 6213
23 |Madison, WI 53716
24 |Alan L Johns 1,340 1,340
25 | 1254 Fountain Drive
26 | Columbus, OH 43221
27 |William R Houghton and Elizabeth P Houghton, Joint Tenants 1,310 1,310
28 | 310 N. Rolling Oaks
29 | San Antonio, TX 78253
30 |Quentin G Hanson Jr 1,005 1,005
31 | 6352 FM 2611
32 | Brazoria, TX 77422
33 |John Reynold Dahl 1,000 1,000
34 | 5200 N Flagler Drive #2405
35 | West Palm Beach, FL 33407
36 |Sarah E Hamilton 1,000 1,000
37 | 900 Chapman St
38 | lonia, Ml 48846
39 |Total Votes - 10 Largest Stockholders 84,471,357 84,108,789 362,568 0
40 . |* Nominee—-Represents various brokers and banks
41
42 |1.(B) Security Holdings of Officers and Directors
43 |K. Whipple Chairman of the Board 0 0
44 |D. W. Joos Chief Executive Officer 0 0
45 |M. J. Ayres Director 0 0
46 |J. E. Barfield Director 0 0
47 |R. M. Gabrys Director 0 0
48 |P. R. Lochner, Jr. Director 0 0
49 |M. T. Monahan Director 0 0
50 |J. F. Paquette, Jr. Director 0 0
51 |P. A. Pierre Director 0 0
52 |K. L. Way Director 10 10
53 |J. B. Yasinksky Director 10 10
54 |Total Votes - Officers and Directors 20 0 20 0

RESPONSE TO INSTRUCTION #2

No security, other than stock, carries voting rights.

RESPONSE TO INSTRUCTION #3

No special voting privileges in the election of directors except that whenever four quarterly dividends payable on the
the Preferred Stock of any class shall be in default in whole or in part, the holders of the Preferred Stock shall have the
exclusive right to elect the majority of the Company's directors.

RESPONSE TO INSTRUCTION #4
Not applicable
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IMPORTANT CHANGES DURING THE YEAR

Give particulars (details) concerning the matters indicated below. Make the statements explicit and precise, and number
them in accordance with the inquiries. Each inquiry should be answered. Enter "none", "not acceptable” or "NA" where
applicable. If information which answers an inquiry is given elsewhere in the report, make a reference to the schedule in

which it appears.

1. Changes in and important additions to franchise rights: Describe the actual consideration given therefore and state
from whom the franchise rights were acquired. If acquired without the payment of consideration, state that fact.

2. Acquisition of ownership in other companies by reorganization, merger, or consolidation with other companies: Give
names of companies involved, particulars concerning the transactions, name of the Commission authorizing the
transaction, and reference to Commission authorization.

3. Purchase or sale of an operating unit or system: Give a brief description of the property, and of the transactions
relating thereto, and reference to Commission authorization, if any was required. Give date journal entries called for by
the Uniform System of Accounts were submitted to the Commission.

4. Important leaseholds (other than leaseholds for natural gas lands) that have been acquired or given, assigned or
surrendered: Give effective dates, lengths of terms, names of parties, rents and other conditions. State name of
Commission authorizing lease and give reference to such authorization.

5. Important extension or reduction of transmission or distribution system: State territory added or relinquished and date
operations began or ceased and give reference to Commission authorization, if any was required. State also the
approximate number of customers added or lost and approximate annual revenues of each class of service. Each natural
gas company must also state major new continuing sources of gas made available to it from purchases, development,
purchase contract or otherwise, giving location and approximate total gas volumes available, period of contracts, and other|
parties to any such arrangements etc.

6. Obligations incurred as a result of issuance of securities or assumption of liabilities or guarantees including issuance of
short-term debt and commercial paper having a maturity of one year or less. Give reference to FERC or State
Commission authorization, as appropriate, and the amount of obligation or guarantee.

7. Changes in articles of incorporation or amendments to charter: Explain the nature and purpose of such changes or
amendments.

8. State the estimated annual effect and nature of any important wage scale changes during the year.

9. State briefly the status of any material legal proceedings pending at the end of the year, and the resulits of any such
proceedings culimnated during the year.

10. Describe briefly and materially important transactions of the respondent not disclosed elsewhere in this report in which
an officer, director, security holder reported on page 106, voting trustee, associated company or known associate of any of
these persons was a party or in which any such person had a material interest.

11. (Reserved.)

12. If the important changes during the year relating to the respondent company appearing in the annual report to
stockholders are applicable in every respect and furnish the data required by instruction 1 to 11 above, such notes may be

attached to this page.
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IMPORTANT CHANGES DURING THE YEAR (Continued)

1. CHANGES IN AND IMPORTANT ADDITIONS TO FRANCHISE RIGHTS:

None

2. ACQUISITION OF OWNERSHIP IN OTHER COMPANIES BY REORGANIZATION, MERGER OR CONSOLIDATION
WITH OTHER COMPANIES:

None

3. PURCHASE OR SALE OF AN OPERATING UNIT OR SYSTEM:

None

4. IMPORTANT LEASEHOLDS (OTHER THAN LEASEHOLDS FROM NATURAL GAS LANDS) THAT HAVE BEEN
ACQUIRED OR GIVEN, ASSIGNED OR SURRENDERED:

During the fourth quarter two leases were acquired and one lease was changed:

Banc of America Leasing and Capital LLC. This lease is an open ended lease beginning October 30, 2009. The lease is
comprised of several schedules of leased vehicles and trailers. The schedules of vehicles are set for 120 months upon
commencement of the lease. As of December 31, 2009 $4 million has been booked as leased assets. Monthly rental
payments are $41K for current leased vehicles. Additional vehicles and schedules may be added.

PNC Equipment Finance LLC. This is an open ended lease beginning November 6, 2009. This lease is designed by creating
schedules of leased vehicles and trailers. The schedules of vehicles are set for 120 months upon commencement of the
lease. As of December 31, 2009 $718K has been booked as leased assets. Monthly rental payments are $8K for current
leased vehicles. Additional vehicles and schedules may be added.

Wells Fargo Equipment Finance Inc. Wells Fargo has taken over the vehicles and equipment lease from Altec Industries, Inc.
for all but two vehicles. This is now a capital lease and has added $12 million to Consumers’ leased assets. The monthly

rental payments are $197K for current leased vehicles.

During the third quarter two leases were acquired:
Banc of America for coal cars. This lease is a nine year lease with terms beginning July 1, 2009 and ending June 30, 2018.

The original acquisition costs were $35,527,206 with monthly payments of $274,907.23.

Banc of America for coal cars. This lease is a nine year lease with terms beginning July 1, 2009 and ending June 30, 2018.
The original acquisition costs were $35,527,206 with monthly payments of $274,907.23.

MassMutual for vehicles and equipment. This lease is an open ended lease beginning August 1, 2009. Consumers Energy
will purchase vehicles, add various components, and then upon Consumers Energy’s approval, will sell them to MassMutual.
MassMutual will then reimburse Consumers Energy for the purchase price of the vehicles. As of September 30, 2009 vehicles
are in various stages of construction and acceptance by Consumers Energy, with $2 million of leased assets/liabilities added
to the books and $1 million being constructed. No reimbursement has occurred to date.

During the second quarter two leases expired:
Helm-Pacific for coal cars. This lease had a 60 month term that spanned from July 1, 2004 through June 30, 2009 and

monthly payments of $150,160.50.

BBRX 5 for coal cars. This lease had a 61 month term that spanned from May 1, 2004 through May 31, 2009 and monthly
payments of $234,330.00.

During the first quarter one lease was acquired:
Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Inc. This lease is a 48 month lease for the use of 282 vehicles beginning March 31, 2009

and ending March 31, 2013. The original acquisition costs were $3,446,917.98 with monthly lease payments of $84,095.05.
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IMPORTANT CHANGES DURING THE YEAR (Continued)

5. IMPORTANT EXTENSIONS OR REDUCTIONS OF TRANSMISSION OF SECURITIES SYSTEM:

None

6. OBLIGATIONS INCURRED AS A RESULT OF ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES OR ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES
OR GUARANTEES INCLUDING ISSUANCE OF SHORT-TERM DEBT AND COMMERCIAL PAPER HAVING A

MATURITY OF ONE YEAR OR LESS:

Consumers’ authorization to issue short-term securities (used herein as that term is defined by FERC) as of December
31, 2009 was granted by FERC on May 28, 2008 in Docket No. ES08-47-000, and its authorization to issue long-term
securities was granted on May 28, 2008 in Docket No. ES08-46-000. Both authorizations were amended by FERC on
June 11, 2008. Orders in those dockets authorized Consumers to have outstanding at any one time up to $1 billion of
secured and unsecured short-term debt securities and up to $1 billion in collateral or credit support and authorized
Consumers to issue up to $1.5 billion of secured and unsecured long-term debt securities and up to $1.5 billion in
collateral or credit support. Both of those authorizations went into effect July 1, 2008 for the two-year period ending
June 30, 2010. The authorized amount for secured and unsecured long-term debt securities was increased by FERC
to $2.05 billion, effective October 9, 2009, through the remainder of the two year period.

Waiver of FERC’s competitive bid/negotiated placement requirements was also granted in the long-term securities
order discussed above and was in place for the entire year of 2009 for all long-term securities issuances.

Consumers Energy secures its First Mortgage Bonds by a mortgage and lien on substantially all of its property.
Consumers’ ability to issue and sell securities is restricted by certain provisions in its First Mortgage Bond Indenture,
its Articles of Incorporation and the need for regulatory approvals to meet appropriate federal law.

On March 6, 2009, Consumers issued $500 million of 6.7% First Mortgage Bonds due 2019.

7. CHANGES IN ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OR AMENDMENTS TO CHARTER:

None

8. STATE THE ESTIMATED ANNUAL EFFECT AND NATURE OF ANY IMPORTANT WAGE SCALE CHANGES
DURING THE YEAR:

Consumers' union wage scale adjustments for 2009 were as follows: Total general increase was $2,709,000. Total
cost-of-living allowance increase was $804,019.

9. STATE BRIEFLY THE STATUS OF ANY MATERIALLY IMPORTANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS PENDING AT THE
END OF THE YEAR, AND THE RESULTS OF ANY SUCH PROCEEDINGS CULMINATED DURING THE YEAR:

Consumers and some of its subsidiaries and affiliates are parties to certain routine lawsuits and administrative
proceedings incidental to their businesses involving, for example, claims for personal injury and property damage,
contractual matters, various taxes, and rates and licensing. Reference is made to the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, included herein, for additional information regarding various pending administrative and judicial
proceedings involving regulatory, operating and environmental matters.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

10. DESCRIBE BRIEFLY ANY MATERIALLY IMPORTANT TRANSACTIONS OF THE RESPONDENT NOT
DISCLOSED ELSEWHERE IN THIS REPORT IN WHICH AN OFFICE, DIRECTOR, SECURITY HOLDER
REPORTED ON PAGE 106, VOTING TRUSTEE, ASSOCIATED COMPANY OR KNOWN ASSOCIATE OF ANY OF
THESE PERSONS WAS A PARTY OR IN WHICH ANY SUCH PERSON HAD A MATERIAL INTEREST:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEET (ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS)
Ref. Page |Balance at Beginning of
Title of Account No. Year Balance at End of Year
Line (a) b C d
1 UTILITY PLANT
2 |Utility Plant (101-106, 114) 200-201 12,518,798,258| 13,263,748,429
3 |Construction Work in Progress (107) 200-201 607,351,277 504,077,900
4 |TOTAL Utility Plant (Enter total of lines 2 and 3) 13,126,149,535 13,767,826,329|
5 |(Less) Accum.Prov for Depr.Amort.Depl (108,111,115) 200-201 5,278,337,076] 5,499,078,371|
6 |Net Utility Plant (Enter total of line 4 less 5) 7,847,812,459 8,268,747,958
7 |Nuclear Fuel in Process of Ref., Conv., Enrich., and Fab (120.1) 0 0
8 |Nuclear Fuel Materials & Assemblies - Stock Account (120.2) 0 0
9 |Nuclear Fuel Assemblies in Reactor (120.3) 0 0
10 |Spent Nuclear Fuel (120.4) 0| 0
11 |Nuclear Fuel under Capital Leases (120.6) 0 0
12 |(Less) Acc. Prov. of Amort. of Nuclear Fuel Assemblies (120.5) | 202-203 44,286,408 44,286,408
13 |Net Nuclear Fuel (Enter total of line 7-11 less 12) (44,286,408) (44,286,408)
14 |Net Utility Plant (Enter total of lines 6 and 13) 7,803,526,051 8,224,461,550
15 |Utility Plant Adjustments (116) 122
16 |Gas Stored Underground-Noncurrent (117) —
17 OTHER PROPERTY AND INVESTMENTS
18 |Nonutility Property (121) 221 14,991,992 15,187,329
19 |(Less) Accum.Prov. for Depr. and Amort. (122) 221 1,383,245 1,474,069
20 |Investments in Associated Companies (123) 222-223 18,571,686 28,766,825
21 |Investments in Subsidiary Companies (123.1) 224-225 733,635,890 797,875,058
22 |(For Cost of Account 123.1, See Footnote Page 224, line 42)
23 |Noncurrent Portion of Allowances 228-229 14,288 0
24 |Other Investments (124) 222-223 4,760,661 5,397,085
25 |Sinking Funds (125) 0 0
26 |Depreciation Fund (126) 0 0
27 |Amortization Fund - Federal (127) 0| 0
28 |Other Special Funds (128) 45,506,072 47,698,451
29 |Special Funds (Non-Major Only) (129) 0 0
30 |Long-Term Portion of Derivative Assets (175) 0 0
31 |Long-Term Portion of Derivative Assets - Hedges (176) 0 0
32 TOTAL Other Property and Investments (Total of lines 18 thru
21, 23 thru 31) 816,097,344 893,450,679
33 CURRENT AND ACCRUED ASSETS
34 |Cash and Working Funds (Non-Major Only) (130) 0 0
35 [Cash (131) — 337,075 5,870,155
36 |Special Deposits (132-134) — 5,562,042 4,287,891
37 |Working Fund (135) -— 150,011 55,426
38 |Temporary Cash Investments (136) 222-223 55,862,677 30,500,000
39 |Notes Receivable (141) 226A 132,033,577 106,893,748
40 |Customer Accounts Receivable (142) 226A 53,608,546 100,569,234
41 |Other Accounts Receivable (143) 226A 63,968,514 53,797,882
42 |(Less) Accum.Prov. for Uncoll. Acct.- Credit (144) 226A 23,486,397 20,762,857
43 |Notes Receivable from Assoc. Companies (145) 226B 0 0
44 |Accounts Receivable from Assoc. Companies (146) 226B 13,387,512 3,395,869
45 |Fuel Stock (151) 227 117,562,909 148,412,350
46 |Fuel Stock Expenses Undistributed (152) 227 0 0
47 |Residuals (Elec) and Extracted Products (153) 227 0| 0
48 |Plant Materials and Operating Supplies (154) 227 102,583,811 110,844,455
49 |Merchandise (155) 227 0 0
50 |Other Materials and Supplies (156) 227 0 0
51 |Nuclear Materials Held for Sale (157) 202-203, 207 0 0
52 |Allowances (158.1 and 158.2) 228-229 626,532 3,625,397
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COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEET (ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS) (Continued)

Ref. Page | Balance at Beginning| Balance at End of
Title of Account No. of Year Year

Line (a) (b) (c) (d)
53 |(Less) Noncurrent Portion of Allowances -— 14,288 0
54 |Stores Expense Undistributed (163) 227 (13) (15,413)
55 |Gas Stored Underground-Current (164.1) - 1,168,112,051 1,038,056,426

Liquefied Natural Gas Stored and Held for Processing
56 [(164.2-164.3) - 0 0
57 |Prepayments (165) 230 23,287,173 19,773,308
58 |Advances for Gas (166-167) -
59 |interest and Dividends Receivable (171) - 52,429 5,534
60 |Rents Receivable (172) -—- 820,835 158,655
61 |Accrued Utility Revenues (173) — 80,000 0
62 [Misc Current and Accrued Assets (174) 230A 273,998,580 314,888,500
63 |[Derivative Instrument Assets (175) 81,484 315,607
64 |(Less) LT Portion of Derivative Inst. Assets (175) 0 0
65 [|Derivative Instrument Assets - Hedges (176) 0 0
66 |(Less) LT Portion of Derivative Inst. Assets - Hedges (176) 0 0
67 TOTAL Current and Accrued Assets (Enter total of lines 34

thru 66) 1,988,615,060 1,920,572,167
68 DEFERRED DEBITS
69 |Unamortized Debt Expenses (181) - 23,186,043 23,793,110
70 |Extraordinary Property Losses (182.1) 230 0 0
71 |Unrecovered Plant & Regulatory Study Costs (182.2) 230 0 0
72 |Other Regulatory Assets 232 2,545,171,725 2,309,017,338
73 |Prelim. Survey & Invest. Charges (Elec) (183) 231 0 0
74 |Prelim. Survey & Invest. Charges (Gas) (183.1) -—- 0 0
75 |Other Prelim. Survey & Investigation Charges (183.2) 0 0
76 |Clearing Accounts (184) - 73,950 2,226
77 |Temporary Facilities (185) - 0 0
78 |Miscellaneous Deferred Debits (186) 233 7,730,449 2,190,394
79 |Def. Losses from Disposition of Utility Plant (187) 235 0 0
80 |Research, Devel. and Demonstration Expend (188) 352-353 0 0
81 |Unamortized Loss on Reacquired Debt (189) 237 66,131,581 56,339,208
82 |Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes (190) 234 1,680,028,606 1,586,255,760
83 |Unrecovered Purchased Gas Costs (191) ---
84 |TOTAL Deferred Debits (Enter total of lines 69 thru 83) 4,322,322,354 3,977,598,036

TOTAL Assets and Other Debits (Enter total of lines 14 thru
85 |16, 32, 67, and 84) 14,930,560,809 15,016,082,432
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X] An Original (Mo, Da, YTr)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[_] A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEET (LIABILITIES AND OTHER CREDITS)

Ref. Page | Balance at Beginning| Balance at End of
Title of Account No. of Year Year

Line (a) b C d

1 PROPRIETARY CAPITAL

2 |Common Stock Issued (201) 250-251 841,087,890 841,087,890

3 |Preferred Stock Issued (204) 250-251 44,159,900 44,159,900
4 |Capital Stock Subscribed (202, 205) 252 0 0

5 |Stock Liability for Conversion (203, 206) 252 0 0

6 |Premium on Capital Stock (207) 252 386,028,613 386,028,613

7 |Other Paid-In Capital (208-211) 253 2,119,013,613 2,219,013,613

8 [Instaliments Received on Capital Stock (212) 252 0 0

9 |(Less) Discount on Capital Stock (213) 254 0 0
10 |(Less) Capital Stock Expense (214) 254 23,718,573 23,718,573
11_|Retained Earnings (215, 215.1, 216) 118-119 383,212,107, 389,644,114
12 |Unappropriated Undistributed Subsidiary Earnings (216.1) 118-119 (258,599) (337,905)
13 |(Less) Reacquired Capital Stock (217) 250-251 0 0
14 |Noncorporate Proprietorship (Non-major only) (218) 0 0
15 |Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (219) 122(a)(b) (707,988) 1,822,955

16 TOTAL Proprietary Capital (Enter total of lines 2 thru 15) 3,748,816,963 3,857,700,607
17 LONG-TERM DEBT

18 |Bonds (221) 256-257 3,516,777,000 3,663,592,000
19 |(Less) Reacquired Bonds (222) 256-257 0 0
20 |Advances from Associated Companies (223) 256-257 234,017,244 203,088,394
21 |Other Long-Term Debt (224) 256-257 458,891,111 459,120,459
22 |Unamortized Premium on Long-Term Debt (225) - 1,487,145 1,326,373

(Less) Unamortized Discount on Long-Term Debt -Debit
23 |(226) -—- 7,134,657 6,283,101
24 |TOTAL Long-Term Debt (Enter total lines 18 thru 23) 4,204,037,843 4,320,844,125
25 OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES —
26 |Obligations Under Capital Leases-Noncurrent (227) 205,602,116 197,404,049
27 |Accumulated Prov. for Property Insurance (228.1) 0 0
28 |Accumulated Prov. for Injuries and Damage (228.2) 47,071,578 48,923,630
29 |Accumulated Prov. for Pensions and Benefits (228.3) 1,438,014,905 1,398,021,116
30 |Accumulated Misc. Operating Provisions (228.4) 0 0
31 |Accumulated Provision for Rate Refunds (229) 6,646,322 19,385,588
32 |Long-Term Portion of Derivative Instrument Liabilities 0 0
33 |LT Portion of Derivative Instrument Liabilities - Hedges 0 0
34 |Asset Retirement Obligations (230) 205,235,455 227,820,813
35 TOTAL Other Noncurrrent Liabilities (Enter total of lines 26
thru 34) 1,902,570,376 1,891,555,196

36 CURRENT AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

37 |Notes Payable (231) 0 0
38 |Accounts Payable (232) 377,471,055 330,021,776
39 |Notes Payable to Associated Companies (233) 260B 27,395,393 27,395,393
40 [Accounts Payable to Associated Companies (234) 260B 13,776,878, 11,280,113
41 |Customer Deposits (235) 32,785,490 31,564,010
42 |Taxes Accrued (236) 262-263 268,792,589 257,023,073
43 [Interest Accrued (237) 66,955,412 68,657,850
44 |Dividends Declared (238) 490,981 490,981
45 |Matured Long-Term Debt (239) 0 0
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
Consumers Energy Company g; { X]]AA;eos:?)lr:?s'sion (Mo, D4a/1 ;120 10 December 31, 2009
COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEET (LIABILITIES AND OTHER CREDITS) (Continued)
Ref. Page | Balance at Beginning| Balance at End of
Title of Account No. of Year Year
Line (a) (b) (c) (d)
46 |Matured Interest (240) 0 0
47 |Tax Collections Payable (241) 4,177,070 (3,927,815)
48 |Misc. Current and Accrued Liabilities (242) 268 121,710,198 111,785,208
49 |Obligations Under Capital Leases -Current (243) 25,251,170 22,440,042
50 |Federal Income Taxes Accrued for Prior Years (244) 0 0
51 |Michigan Single Business Taxes Accrued for Prior Years (244.1) | 262-263 19,963,694 20,705,694
52 |Fed. Inc. Taxes Accrued for Prior Years -Adj. (245) 262-263 54,109,731 62,723,820
Michigan Single Business Taxes Accrued for Prior Years -
53 |Adj. (245.1) 0 0
54 |Total Current and Accrued Liabilities (lines 37 thru 53) 1,012,879,661 940,160,145
56 |Customer Advances for Construction (252) 268 53,664,109 47,097,006
57 |Accumulated Deferred Investment Tax Credits (255) 266-267 54,606,619 51,031,067,
58 |Deferred Gains from Disposition of Utility Pit. (256) 270 0 0
59 |Other Deferred Credits (253) 269 152,643,356 192,850,540
60 |Other Regulatory Liabilities 278 1,050,722,532 998,433,738
61 |Unamortized Gain on Reacquired Debt (257) 237 0 0
62 |Accum. Deferred Income Taxes-Accel. Amort. (281) 0 0
63 |Accum. Deferred Income Taxes-Other Property (282) 274-275 1,210,765,097| 1,536,584,728
64 |Accum. Deferred Income Taxes-Other (283) 276A-276B 1,539,854,253 1,179,825,280
65 |TOTAL Deferred Credits (Enter total of lines 56 thru 64) 4,062,255,966| 4,005,822,359
TOTAL Liabilities and Other Credits (Enter total of lines 16,
66 |24, 35, 54 and 65) 14,930,560,809| 15,016,082,432
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X ] An Original (Mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company 2)[ 1A Resubmission 04/16/10 December 31, 2009
FOOTNOTE DATA
Page Iltem Column Comments
Number Number Number
(@ (b) (c) (d)
110 12 d This represents our liability to the DOE for disposal of spent nuclear fuel
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X1 An Original (Mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company @[ ]A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR

1. Report amounts for accounts 412 and 413, Revenue and Expenses for Utility Plant Leased to Others, in another utility
column (1,k,m,0) in a similar manner to a utility department. Spread the amount(s) over lines 02 thru 24 as appropriate.

Include these amounts in columns (c) and (d) totals.
2. Report amounts in account 414, Other Utility Operating Income, in the same manner as accounts 412 and 413 above.

3. Report data for lines 7, 9, and 10 for Natural Gas companies using accounts 404.1, 404.2, 404.3, 407.1, and 407.2
4. Use pages 122-123 for important notes regarding the statement of income or any account thereof.

5. Give concise explanations concerning unsettled rate proceedings where a contingency exists such that refunds of a
material amount may need to be made to the utility's customers or which may result in a material refund to the utility with
respect to power or gas purchases. State for each year affected the gross revenues or costs to which the contingency
relates and the tax effects together with an explanation of the major factors which affect the rights of the utility to....

TOTAL

Title of Account Rele;age Current Year Previous Year
Line (a) (b)
1 UTILITY OPERATING INCOME
2 |Operating Revenues (400) 300-301
3 |Operating Expenses
4 Operation Expenses (401) 320-323 4,321,170,660 4,764,605,381
5 Maintenance Expenses (402) 320-323 204,739,501 165,640,608
6 Depreciation Expenses (403) 336-337 376,691,487 374,039,231
7 Depreciation Expenses for Asset Retirement Costs (403.1) 0 0
8 Amortization and Depl. of Utility Plant (404-405) 336-337 22,560,256 25,232,071
9 Amortization of Utility Plant Acg. Adj (406) 336-337 5,344,486, 5,343,669
10 Amort. Of Property Losses, Unrecovered Plant and
Regulatory Study Costs (407) 0 0
11 Amort. Of Conversion Expenses (407) 0 0
12 Regulatory Debits 240,724,227 156,547,088
13 (Less) Regulatory Credits 0 0
14 | Taxes Other Than Income Taxes (408.1) 262-263 207,850,050, 194,964,537
15 Income Taxes-Federal (409.1) 262-263 70,700,976 (35,395,536)
16 -Other (409.1) 262-263 23,423,073 8,852,636
17 Provision for Deferred Income Taxes (410.1) 234,272-276 1,349,378,700 907,450,353
Less) Provision for Deferred Income Taxes-Cr.
18 24111)) 234,272-276 1,302,431,186 700,390,488
19 Investment Tax Credit Adj.- Net (411.4) 266-267 (3,575,552) (3,580,082),
20 (Less) Gains from Disp. of Utility Plant (411.7) 270A-B
21 Losses from Disposition of Utility Plant (411.6) 235A-B
22 | (Less) Gains from Disposition of Allowances 103,328 18,531,873
23 Losses from Disposition of Allowances
24 | Accretion Expense (411.10)
25 TOTAL Utility Operating Expenses (Enter Total of lines
4 thru 24) 5,516,473,350 5,844,777,595
26 Net Utility Operating Income ( Entgr Total of line 2 less
25) ( Carry forward to page 117, line 27) 542,711,359| 560,638,280
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X ] An Original (Mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[ 1A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

...retain such revenues or recover amounts paid with respect to power and gas purchases.

6. Give concise explanations concerning significant amounts of any refunds made or received during the year resulting from
settlement of any rate proceeding affecting revenues received or costs incurred for power or gas purchases, and a summary
of the adjustments made to balance sheet, income, and expense accounts.
7. If any notes appearing in the report to stockholders are applicable to this Statement of Income, such notes may be
included on pages 122-123.
8. Enter on pages 122-123 a concise explanation of only those changes in accounting methods made during the year which
had an effect on net income, including the basis of allocations and apportionments from those used in the proceeding year.

Also give the approximate dollar effect of such changes.
9. Explain in a footnote if the previous year's figures are different from that reported in prior years.
10. If the columns are insufficient for reporting additional utility departments, supply the appropriate account titles, lines 2 to
23, and report the information in the blank space on pages 122-123 or in a footnote.

ELECTRIC UTILITY

GAS UTILITY

OTHER UTILITY

Current Year

(€)

Previous Year

(f)

Current Year

(9)

Previous Year

(h)

Current Year

(i)

Previous Year

)

3,496,536,589 | 3,578,331,774 | 2,562,648,120 | 2,827,084,101 —— 2
3
2,180,638,014 2,353,687,303 2,140,532,646 2,410,918,078 4
171,468,258 133,246,144 33,271,243 32,394,464 5
268,019,016 250,507,066 108,672,471 123,532,165 6
0 0 0 0 7
13,431,718 13,011,921 9,128,538 12,220,150, 8
5,338,328 5,337,511 6,158 6,158 9
0 0 0 0 10
0 0 0 0 11
240,548,750 156,333,257 175,477 213,831 12
0 0 0 0 13
148,313,791 138,818,187 59,536,259 56,146,350 14
57,931,318 (11,437,130) 12,769,658 (23,958,406) 15
16,398,012 7,705,276 7,025,061 1,147,360 16
1,123,072,872 644,001,423 226,305,828 263,448,930 17
1,109,011,161 501,570,754 193,420,025 198,819,734 18
(2,875,303) (2,877,589) (700,249) (702,493) 19
0 0 0 0 20
0 0 0 0 21
103,328 18,531,873 0 0 22
0 0 0 0 23
0 0 0 24
3,113,170,285 3,168,230,742 2,403,303,065 2,676,546,853 25
383,366,304 410,101,032 159,345,055 150,537,248 26
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
Consumers Energy Company (1) [X]An Origingl ; (Mo, Da, ¥ December 31, 2009
(2)[ 1A Resubmission 4/16/2010 '
STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR (Continued)
(Ref.) Total
Account Page No. Current Year Previous Year

Line (a) (b) (c) (d)

27 Net Utility Operating Income (Carried forward from page 114) 542,711,359 560,638,280
28 OTHER INCOME AND DEDUCTIONS

29 |Other Income
30 |Nonutility Operating Income

31 |Revenues From Merchandising, Jobbing and Contract Work (415) 282 11,060,063 16,798,209
32 |(Less) Costs and Exp. Of Merchandising, Job. And Contract Work (416) 282 9,829,689 13,321,469
33 |Revenues From Nonutility Operations ( 417) 282 1,491,807 1,983,350
34 |(Less) Expenses of Nonutility Operations (417.1) 282 1,431,591 1,573,071
35 |Nonoperating Rental Income (418) 282 619,295 683,504
36 |Equity in Earnings of Subsidiary Companies (418.1) 119,282 (79,306) (53,376)
37 |Interest and Dividend Income (419) 282 6,763,853 16,286,814
38 |Allowance for Other Funds Used During Construction (419.1) 282 6,195,179 6,431,574,
39 |Miscellaneous Nonoperating Income (421) 282 41,008,103 60,731,396
40 |Gain on Disposition of Property (421.1) 280 8,994,901 184,287
41 |TOTAL Other Income (enter Total of lines 31 thru 40) 64,792,615, 88,151,218
42 |Other Income Deductions

43 |Loss on Disposition of Property (421.2) 280 372,660 875,554
44 |Miscellaneous Amortization (425) 340 0 0
45 Donations (426.1) 340 228,558 316,682
46 Life Insurance (426.2) 340 0 0
47 Penalties (426.3) 340 22,068 10,587
48 Exp. For Certain Civic, Political & Related Activities (426.4) 340 2,369,907 5,106,794
49 Other Deductions (426.5) 340 3,489,373 21,537,352
50 |TOTAL Other Income Deductions (Total of lines 43 thru 49) 6,482,566 27,846,969
51 |Taxes Applicable to Other Income and Deductions

52 |Taxes Other Than Income Taxes (408.2) 262-263 315,917 288,310
53 |Income Taxes - Federal (409.2) 262-263 4,034,509 13,544,734
54 |Income Taxes - Other (409.2) 262-263 647,170 3,344,742
55 |Provision for Deferred Income Taxes (410.2) 234,272-276 26,367,803 25,878,133
56 |(Less) Provision for Deferred Income Taxes - Cr. (411.2) 234,272-276 7,094,548 22,895,896
57 |Investment Tax Credit Adjustment - Net (411.5) 264-265 0 0
58 |(Less) Investment Tax Credits (420) 264-265 0 0
59 | TOTAL Taxes on Other Income and Deductions (total of 52 thru 58) 24,270,851 20,160,023
60 |Net Other Income and Deductions (total of lines 41, 50 & 59) 34,039,198 40,144,226
61 INTEREST CHARGES

62 |Interest on Long-Term Debt (427) 257 222,317,597 196,796,293
63 |Amort. Of Debt Disc. And Expense (428) 256-257 5,785,290 5,167,548
64 |Amortization of Loss on Reacquired Debt (428.1) 9,792,373 11,250,806
65 |(Less) Amort. Of Premium on Debt-Credit (429) 256-257 160,772, 188,448
66 |(Less) Amort. of Gain on Reacquired Debt-Credit (429.1) 0 0
67 |Interest on Debt to Associated Companies (430) 257-340 14,290,660 15,827,695
68 |Other Interest Expense (431) 340 35,176,524 11,498,272
69 |(Less) Allowance for Borrowed Funds Used During Construction-Cr. (432) 3,567,744 4,157,525
70 |Net Interest Charges (total of lines 62 thru 69) 283,633,928 236,194,641
71 |income Before Extraordinary ltems (total lines 27,60,70) 293,116,629 364,587,864,
72 EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS

73 |Extraordinary Income (434) 342 0 0
74 |(Less) Extraordinary Deductions (435) 342 0 0
75 |Net Extraordinary ltems (total line 73 less line 74) 0 0
76 |Income Taxes-Federal and Other (409.3) 262-263 0 0
77 |Extraordinary items After Taxes (Enter Total of lines 75 less line 76) 0 0
78 [Net Income (Enter Total of lines 71 and 77) 293,116,629 364,587,864
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
C e (1) [ X ] An Original (Mo, Da, Y1)
onsumers Energy Company @)[ ]A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

RECONCILIATION OF DEFERRED INCOME TAX EXPENSE

283 and 284.

totals reported on these pages.

1. Report on this page the charges to accounts 410, 411
and 420 reported in the contra accounts 190, 281, 282,

2. The charges to the subaccounts of 410 and 411 found
on pages 114-117 should agree with the subaccount

In the event the deferred income tax expenses reported on
pages 114-117 do not directly reconcile with the amounts
found on these pages, then provide the additional
information requested in instruction #3, on a separate

page.

Line No. Electric Utility Gas Utility
1 Debits to Account 410 from:
2 Account 190 222,316,536 44,908,528
3 Account 281 0 0
4 Account 282 656,112,157 129,440,669
5 Account 283 244,644,179 51,956,631
6 Account 284
7 Reconciling Adjustments
8  TOTAL Account 410.1 (on pages 114-115 line 17) 1,123,072,872 226,305,828
9 TOTAL Account 410.2 (on page 117 line 55)
10 Credits to Account 411 from:
11 Account 190 383,991,626 41,329,912
12 Account 281 0 0
13 Account 282 377,688,470 84,565,843
14  Account 283 347,331,065 67,524,270
15  Account 284
16 Reconciling Adjustments
17 _TOTAL Account 411.1 (on page 114-115 line 18) 1,109,011,161 193,420,025
18 TOTAL Account 411.2 (on page 117 line 56)
19 Net ITC Adjustment:
20 ITC Utilized for the Year DR
21  ITC Amortized for the Year CR (2,875,303) (700,249)
22 ITC Adjustments:
23 Adjust last year's estimate to actual per filed return
24 Other (specify)
25 Net Reconciling Adjustments Account 411.4* (2,875,303) (700,249)
26 Net Reconciling Adjustments Account 411.5**
27 Net Reconciling Adjustments Account 420***

* on pages 114-15 line 19 ** on page 117 line 57 *** on page 117 line 58
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
Consumers Energy Company 8; {X]]AA;;:ilr?q?slsion (Mo, 37%6Y/r2)010 December 31, 2009
RECONCILIATION OF DEFERRED INCOME TAX EXPENSE
;;Si)c:tr;?:E:f:rgga;:igr;icg;czi:s:: szf the (c) Identify the company's regulatory authority to utilize contr.a
subaccount(s) reported on pages 114-117 with the accounts other than accounts 190 or 281-284 for the recording
amount reported on these pages. (b) Identify all of deferred income tax expense(s).
contra accounts (other than accounts 190 and 281-
284).
Other Utility Total Utility Other Income Total Company Line No.
1
267,225,064 7,444,961 274,670,025 2
0 0 0 3
785,552,826 3,045,773 788,598,599 4
296,600,810 15,877,069 312,477,879 5
0 6
7
1,349,378,700 8
26,367,803 9
10
425,321,538 5,967,637 431,289,175 11
0 0 o 12
462,254,313 524,655 462,778,968 13
414,855,335 602,256 415,457,591 14
15
16
1,302,431,186 17
7,094,548 18
19
20
(3,575,552) (3,675,652)] 21
22
23
24
(3,575,552) 0 25
0 26
0 27
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X1 An Original (Mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[ ]A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

OPERATING LOSS CARRYFORWARD

applicable.

Fill in below when the company sustains an operating loss, loss carryback or carryforward whenever or wherever

Line Year

No. (@)

Operating Loss

(b)

Loss Carryforward (F)

or Carryback (B)
(c)

Loss Utilized

Balance

Amount

(d)

Year

Remaining

(f)

8 2005

10
1 2006
12
13 2008
14
15
16 Total
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

303,688,280

24,449

57,477

Tax Sharing
B
F

Tax Sharing
F

Tax Sharing
F

64,392,616

2007

239,295,664
24,449

57,477

239,377,590
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X1 An Original (Mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company 2)[ ]A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

STATEMENT OF RETAINED EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR

earnings for the year.
2. Each credit and debit during the year should be identified as to the retained earnings account in which recorded (Accounts 433, 436-439

inclusive). Show the contra primary account affected in column (b).
3. State the purpose and amount for each reservation or appropriation of retained earnings.
4. List first account 439 (Adjustments to Retained Earnings), reflecting adjustments to the opening balance of retained earnings. Follow by
credit, then debit, items in that order.

5. Show dividends for each class and series of capital stock.
6. Show separately the state and federal income tax effect of items shown in account 439 (Adjustments to Retained Earnings)

1. Report all changes in appropriated retained earnings, unappropriated retained earnings, and unappropriated undistributed subsidiary

7. Explain in a footnote the basis for determining the amount reserved or appropriated. If such reservation or appropriation is to be recurrent,
state the number and annual amounts to be reserved or appropriated as well as the totals eventually to be accumulated.

8. If any notes appearing in the report to stockholders are applicable to this statement, include them on pages 122-123.

Contra
Primary
Account
Line Item Affected Amount
No. (a) (b) (c)
UNAPPROPRIATED RETAINED EARNINGS (Account 216)
1 _ |Balance-Beginning of Year 329,736,057
2 Changes (Identify by prescribed retained eamings accounts)
3 |Adjustments to Retained Earnings (Account 439)
4 Credit: Unrealized gain on securities
5 Credit: Taxes related to unrealized gain on securities
6 Credit: Minimum pension liability
7 Credit: Taxes related to Minimum pension liability
8 TOTAL Credits to Retained Earnings (439) 0
9 Debit: Redemption of Common Stock
10
11 Debit:
12 Debit:
13 TOTAL Debits to Retained Earnings (439) 0
14 |Balance Transferred from Income (Account 433 Less Account 418.1) 293,195,935
15 |Appropriations of Retained Earnings (Account 436)
16 |Excess Hydro Earnings 1,094,280
17 |CE Indenture 0
18
19
20
21 TOTAL Appropriations of Retained Earnings (Account 436) 1,094,280
22 |Dividends Declared-Preferred Stock (Account 437)
23 |Dividends Declared-Preferred Stock (1,963,933)
24
25
26
27
28 TOTAL Dividends Declared-Preferred Stock (Account 437) (1,963,933)
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Name of Respondent This Report Is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [ X] An Original (Mo, Da, YTr)
Consumers Energy Company 2)[ ]A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009
STATEMENT OF RETAINED EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)
Contra
Primary
Account
Line Item Affected Amount
No. (a) (b) (c)
29 |Dividends Declared-Common Stock (Account 438)
30 (284,800,000)
31
32
33
34
35 TOTAL Dividends Declared-Common Stock (Account 438) (284,800,000)
36 |Transfers from Account 216.1 Unappropriated Undistributed Subsidiary Earnings
Balance - End of the Year (Enter Total of lines 1 thru 36) 337,262,339

APPROPRIATED RETAINED EARNINGS (Account 215)

State balance and purpose of each appropriated retained earnings amount at end of year and give
accounting entries for any applications of appropriated retained earnings during the year.

38
39
40
41
42
43 TOTAL Appropriated Retained Earnings (Account 215)

APPROPRIATED RETAINED EARNINGS-AMORTIZATION RESERVE, FEDERAL

(Account 215.1)

State below the total amount set aside through appropriations of retained earnings, as of the end of the
year, in compliance with the provisions of Federally granted hydroelectric project licenses held by the
respondent. If any reductions or changes other than the normal annual credits hereto have been made
during the year, explain such items in a footnote.

44 TOTAL Appropriated Retained Earnings-Amortization Reserve, Federal (Account 215.1) 52,381,775
52,381,775

389,644,114

45 TOTAL Appropriated Retained Earnings (Account 215 & 215.1)
46 TOTAL Retained Earnings (Accounts 215, 215.1 & 216)

UNAPPROPRIATED UNDISTRIBUTED SUBSIDIARY EARNINGS (Account 216.1)

47 |Balance-Beginning of Year (Debit or Credit) (258,599)
48 Equity in Earnings for Year (Credit) (Account 418.1) (79,306)
49 (Less) Dividends Received (Debit) 0
50 Other Changes (Dissolved subsidiaries - transferred to 216)

51 |Balance-End of Year (Enter Total of lines 47 thru 50) (337,905)
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2. Under "Other" specify significant amounts and group others.

1. If the notes to the cash flow statement in the respondent's annual

stockholders report are applicable to this statement, such notes should 3 Operating Activities-Other: Include gains and losses pertaining
be included on pages 122-123. Information about noncash investing 5 gperating activities only. Gains and losses pertaining to

and financing activities should be provided on pages 122-123. "Cash j,yesting and financing activities should be reported in those

and Cash Equivalents at End of Year" with related amounts on the activities. Show on pages 122-123 the amounts of interest paid
balance sheet. (net of amounts capitalized) and income taxes paid.

Line Description (See instructions for Explanation of Codes ) Amounts
No. (@) (b)
1 Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities: (enter outflows from company as negative #s)
2 Net Income (Line 78 (c) on page 117)
3 Noncash Charges (Credits) to Income:
4 Depreciation and Depletion 645,320,456
5 Amortization of capital leases and debt 38,564,851
6 (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Assets (8,622,241)
7 Regulatory Return on Capital Expenditures (25,947,319)
8 Deferred Income Taxes (Net) 65,024,100
9 Investment Tax Credit Adjustment (Net) (3,575,551)
10 Net (Increase) Decrease in Receivables (80,205,290)
11 Net (Increase) Decrease in Inventory 90,960,940
12 Net (Increase) Decrease in Allowances Inventory (2,898,865)
13 Net Increase (Decrease) in Payables and Accrued Expenses (35,835,700)
14 Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Regulatory Assets (19,357,741)
15 Net Increase (Decrease) in Other Regulatory Liabilities 104,139,288
16 (Less) Allowance for Other Funds Used During Construction 6,195,179
17 (Less) Undistributed Earnings from Subsidiary Companies (79,306)
18 Other:
19 Prepayments 3,513,865
20 Changes in Other Assets and Liabilities (126,537,473)
21
22 Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (Total of lines 2 thru 21) 931,544,076
23
24 |Cash Flows from Investment Activities:
25 Construction and Acquisition of Plant (including land):
26 Gross Additions to Utility Plant (less nuclear fuel) (739,191,860)
27 Gross Additions to Nuclear Fuel 0
28 Gross Additions to Common Utility Plant (71,401,479
29 Gross Additions to Nonutility Plant 0
30 (Less) Allowance to Other Funds Used During Construction 0
31 Other:
32
33
34 Cash Outflows for Plant (Total of lines 26 thru 33) 810,593,339
35
36 Acquisition of Other Noncurrent Assets (d) 0
37 Proceeds from Disposal of Noncurrent Assets (d) 6,743,897
38 Costs to Retire Property (49,020,128)
39 Investments in and Advances to Assoc. and Subsidiary Companies (30,928,849)
40 Contributions and Advances from Assoc. and Subsidiary Companies 0
41 Disposition of Investments in (and Advances to) —
42 Associated and Subsidiary Companies 0
43 Miscellaneous Investments (636,424)
44  |Purchase of Investment Securities (a) 0
45 |Proceeds from Sales of Investment Securities (a) 0
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
4. Tnvesting Activities 5. Codes used:
(a) Include at Other (line 31) net cash outflow to acquire other (a) Net proceeds or payments.
companies. Provide a reconciliation of asset acquired with liabilities (b) Bonds, debentures and other long-term debt.
assumed on pages 122-123. (c) Include commercial paper.

(d) Identify separately such items as investments, fixed assets,

intangibles, etc.
6. Enter on pages 122-123 clarifications and explanations.

(b) Do not include on this statement the dollar amount of leases
capitalized per USofA General Instruction 20; instead provide a
reconciliation of the dollar amount of leases capitalized with the plant
cost on pages 122-123.

Line Description (See instructions for Explanation of Codes) Amount

No. (a) (b)

46 Loans Made or Purchased

47 Collections on Loans

48

49 Net (Increase) Decrease in Receivables

50 Net (Increase) Decrease in Inventory

51 Net (Increase) Decrease in Allowances Held for Speculation

52 Net Increase (Decrease) in Payables and Accrued Expenses

53 Other:

54

55

56 Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

57 (Total of lines 34 thru 55)
58

59 Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

60 Proceeds from Issuance of:

61 Long Term Debt (b) 494,494,730
62 Preferred Stock

63 Common Stock

64 Other:

65 Contribution from Stockholder 100,000,000
66 Net Increase in Short-Term Debt (c) 0
67 Other: )

68

69

70 Cash Provided by Outside Sources (Total of lines 61 thru 69) 594,494,730|
71

72 Payments for Retirement of:

73 Long Term Debt (b) (353,205,000)
74 Preferred Stock

75 Common Stock

76 Other:

77 Payment of Capital Leases (22,833,363)
78 Net Decrease in Short-Term Debt (c) 0
79

80 Dividends on Preferred Stock (1,963,933)
81 Dividends on Common Stock 284,800,000
82 Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

83 (Total of lines 70 thru 81) (68,307,566)
84

85 Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

86 (Total of lines 22, 57 and 83) 21,198,333
87

88 | cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year
89

90 Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 40,713,472
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STATEMENT OF ACCUMULATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

1. Report in columns (b), (c), (d) and (e) the amounts of accumulated other comprehensive income items, on a net-of-tax basis, where
appropriate.
2. Report in columns (f) and (g) the amounts of other categories of other cash flow hedges
3. For each category of hedges that have been accounted for as "fair value hedges", report the accounts affected and the related
amounts in a footnote.

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-05)

Lin Unrealized Gains and Minimum Pension

e Losses on Available for | Liability and adjustment| Foreign Currency

No. ltem Sale Securities (net amount) Hedges Other Adjustments

(a) (b) (€) (d) (e)

Balance of Account 219 at

1 |Beginning of Preceding Year 14,721,718 (14,284,730)
Preceding Year to Date
Reclassifications from Acct 219 to

2 |Net Income 13,277,857 5,811,681
Preceding Year to Date Changes in

3 |Fair Value (21,617,932) 0 1,383,418

4 |Total (lines 2 and 3) (8,340,075) 7,195,099
Balance of 219 at End of Preceding

5 |Year 6,381,643 0 (7,089,631)
Balance of Account 219 at

6 |Beginning of Current Year 6,381,643 0 (7,089,631)
Current Year to Date
Reclassifications from Acct 219 to

7 |[Netincome (3,291,951) 0 185,611
Current Year to Date Changes in

8 |Fair Value 9,563,203 0 (3,925,920)

9 |Total (lines 7 and 8) 6,271,252 0 (3,740,309)
Balance of Account 219 at End of

10 |Current Year 12,652,895 0 (10,829,940)
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STATEMENT OF ACCUMULATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES (cont'd)

Totals for each category | Net Income (carried
Line Other Cash Flow Hedges Other Cash Flow Hedges of items recorded in forward from Page | Total Comprehensive
No. Interest Rate Swaps (specify) Account 219 117, Line 78) Income
® () (h) i '

1 0 436,988

2 0 19,089,538

3 0 (20,234,514)

; : e N I

5 0 (707,988)

6 0 (707,988)

7 0 (3,106,340)

8 0 5,637,283

9 0 2,530,943 2,530,943
10 0 1,822,955
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Use the space below for important notes regarding the
Balance Sheet, Statement of Income for the year, Statement of
Retained Earnings for the year, and Statement of Cash Flows, or
any account thereof. Classify the notes according to each basic
statement, providing a subheading for each statement except
where a note is applicable to more than one statement.

2. Furnish particulars (details) as to any significant contingent
assets or liabilities existing at end of year, including a brief
explanation of any action initiated by the Internal Revenue
Service involving possible assessment of additional income taxes
of material amount, or of a claim for refund of income taxes of a
material amount initiated by the utility. Give also a brief
explanation of any dividends in arrears on cumulative preferred
stock.

3. For Account 116, Utility Plant Adjustments, explain the origin
of such amount, debits and credits during the year, and

plan of dispostion contemplated giving references to
Commission orders or other authorizations respecting
classification of amounts as plant adjustments and
requirements as to disposition thereof.

4. Where Accounts 189, Unamortized Loss on Reacquired
Debt, and 257, Unamortized Gain on Reacquired Debt, are
not used, give an explanation, providing the rate treatment
given these items. See General Instruction 16 of Uniform

System of Accounts.

5. Give a concise explanation of any retained earnings
restrictions and state the amount of retained earnings

affected by such restrictions.

6. If the notes to financial statements relating to the
respondent company appearing in the annual report to the
stockholders are applicable and furnish the data required
by instructions above and on pages 114-121, such notes

may be herein.
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CONSUMERS ENERGY COMPANY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of Presentation

The footnotes included herein are from Consumers Energy’s annual report as of December 31, 2009, which
are prepared on a consolidated basis as permitted by instruction 6 on page 122 of this report. The
accompanying financial statements on pages 110-121 have been prepared in accordance with the accounting
requirements of the FERC as set forth in its Uniform System of Accounts (USOA) and accounting releases,
which differ from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). These
differences result in various financial statement classification differences, but do not result in net income
differences. Accordingly, the footnotes have been presented on a consolidated basis as allowed by

- regulatory guidance.

The following are the significant differences between FERC reporting and U.S. GAAP:

Investments in Subsidiaries

Consumers’ investments in its subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method of accounting in
accordance with USOA.

Accumulated Removal Costs

The accumulated removal costs for regulated property, plant and equipment that do not meet the definition
of an asset retirement obligation under ASC 410, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations, are
classified as a regulatory liability under U.S. GAAP and as accumulated provision for depreciation under the

USOA.
Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes

Accumulated deferred income taxes are classified as current and non-current for U.S. GAAP financial
reporting purposes by presenting net current assets and liabilities separate from net non-current assets and
liabilities on the balance sheet in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. To comply with USOA,
deferred income tax assets are reported as non-current deferred debits separate from deferred income tax
liabilities, which are classified and reported as non-current deferred credits.

Accumulated deferred income taxes are recognized for U.S. GAAP financial reporting purposes based on
the provisions of ASC 740-10, Income Taxes. In accordance with guidance issued by FERC in May 2007
(Docket No. AI07-2-000, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes), ASC 740-
10 liabilities, recorded in accrued taxes, established for uncertain tax positions related to temporary
differences have been reclassified to the accumulated deferred income tax accounts.

ASC 740-10 requires interest and penalties, if applicable, to be accrued on differences between tax positions

recognized in our financial statements and the amount claimed, or expected to be claimed, on the tax return.
Consumers' policy for U.S. GAAP financial reporting purposes is to include interest and penalties accrued,
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f any, on uncertain tax positions as part of income tax expense in the income statement. To comply with
USOA, interest expense and penalties, if any, attributable to uncertain tax positions are included in Account
431, Interest Expense and Account 426.3, Penalties, respectively.

Debt

Current portions of long-term debt and bonds are classified as current liabilities for U.S. GAAP reporting.
For USOA all long-term liabilities and bonds both current and non-current portions are considered non-

current liabilities.

Decommissioning

Revenues associated with decommissioning are classified as operating revenues for U.S. GAAP reporting
and as regulatory debits for depreciation and amortization under the USOA.

Other Reclassifications

Certain other reclassifications of balance sheet, income statement and cash flow amounts have been made in
order to conform to the USOA.

1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Corporate Structure: Consumers is a combination electric and gas utility company that provides
service to customers in Michigan’s Lower Peninsula. Consumers manages its businesses by the nature
of services it provides. Consumers operates principally in two business segments: electric utility and

gas utility.

Principles of Consolidation: Consumers prepares its consolidated financial statements in conformity
with GAAP. Consumers’ consolidated financial statements comprise Consumers and all other entities
in which it has a controlling financial interest or is the primary beneficiary. Consumers eliminates
intercompany transactions and balances.

Use of Estimates: Consumers is required to make estimates using assumptions that may affect reported
amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Consumers records estimated liabilities for contingencies in its consolidated financial statements when it
is probable that a liability has been incurred and when the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.
For additional details, see Note 6, Contingencies and Commitments.

Revenue Recognition Policy: Consumers recognizes revenue from deliveries of electricity and natural
gas, and from the transportation, processing, and storage of natural gas, when services are provided.
Consumers records unbilled revenue for the estimated amount of energy delivered to customers but not
yet billed. Consumers records sales tax net and excludes it from revenue.

Alternative-Revenue Program: Under an electric rate order issued by the MPSC in November 2009,

Consumers was granted authority to implement a revenue decoupling mechanism that adjusts customer
rates to ‘collect or refund the change in marginal revenue arising from the difference between the level of
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average sales per customer adopted in the order and actual average sales per customer. Consumers
accounts for this program as an alternative-revenue program and, accordingly, recognizes the effects of
decoupling adjustments on revenue as electricity is delivered.

Self-Implemented Rates: Consumers is allowed to self-implement new energy rates six months after a
new rate case filing if the MPSC has not issued an order in the case. The MPSC then has another six
months to issue a final order. If the MPSC does not issue an order, the filed rates are considered
approved. If the MPSC issues an order, the rates that Consumers self-implemented may be subject to
refund, with interest. Consumers recognizes revenue associated with self-implemented rates. If
Consumers considers it probable that it will be required to refund a portion of its self-implemented rates,
then Consumers records a provision for revenue subject to refund. For details on Consumers’ self-
implemented rates, see Note 7, Utility Rate Matters.

Accounting for Legal Fees: Consumers expenses legal fees as incurred; fees incurred but not yet
billed are accrued based on estimates of work performed. This policy also applies to any fees incurred
on behalf of employees and officers under indemnification agreements; such fees are billed directly to
Consumers. '

Accounting for MISO Transactions: MISO requires the submission of hourly day-ahead and real-
time bids and offers for energy at locations across the MISO region. Consumers accounts for MISO
transactions on a net hourly basis in each of the real-time and day-ahead markets, and it nets transactions
across all MISO energy market locations. Consumers records net purchases in a single hour in
Purchased and interchange power and net sales in a single hour in Operating Revenue on the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Consumers records net sale billing adjustments upon invoice
receipt. Consumers records expense accruals for future net purchases adjustments based on historical
experience, and reconciles accruals to actual expenses upon invoice receipt.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

Determination of Pension and OPEB MRY of Plan Assets: Consumers determines the MRV for
pension plan assets as the fair value of plan assets on the measurement date, adjusted by the gains or
losses that will not be admitted into the MRV until future years. Consumers reflects each year’s gain or
loss in the MRV in equal amounts over a five-year period beginning on the date the original amount was
determined. Consumers determines the MRV for OPEB plan assets as the fair value of assets on the
measurement date. Consumers uses the MRV in the calculation of net pension and OPEB costs.

Derivative Instruments: Consumers records derivative contracts that do not qualify for the normal
purchases and sales exception at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. If a derivative qualifies
for cash flow hedge accounting, changes in the fair value are recorded in AOCL; otherwise, changes are
reported in earnings. For additional details regarding derivative instruments, see Note 10, Derivative

Instruments.

Financial Instruments: Consumers records debt and equity securities classified as available for sale at
fair value determined primarily from quoted market prices. On a specific identification basis,
Consumers reports unrealized gains and losses from changes in fair value of certain available-for-sale
debt and equity securities, net of tax, in equity as part of AOCL. Consumers excludes unrealized losses
from earnings unless the related changes in fair value are determined to be other than temporary. For
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additional details regarding financial instruments, see Note 9, Financial Instruments.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Consumers performs tests of impairment if certain triggering
events occur, or if there has been a decline in value that may be other than temporary. Consumers
evaluates long-lived assets held in use for impairment by calculating the undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the undiscounted future cash
flows are less than the carrying amount, Consumers recognizes an impairment loss equal to the amount
by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value. Consumers estimates the fair value of the asset
using quoted market prices, market prices of similar assets, or discounted future cash flow analyses. For

additional details, see Note 19, Asset Sales.

Inventory: Consumers uses the weighted-average cost method for valuing working gas, recoverable
cushion gas in underground storage facilities, and materials and supplies inventory. Consumers also
uses this method for valuing coal inventory, and classifies these amounts as generating plant fuel stock
on its Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Consumers classifies renewable energy credits and emission allowances as materials and supplies
inventory and uses the average cost method to remove amounts from inventory as the renewable energy
credits and emission allowances are used to generate power.

Consumers uses the lower of cost or market method to evaluate inventory for impairment.

Maintenance and Depreciation: Consumers records property repairs and minor property replacement
as maintenance expense. Consumers records planned major maintenance activities as operating expense
unless the cost represents the acquisition of additional components or the replacement of an existing

component.

Consumers depreciates utility property using a composite method, in which it applies a single MPSC-
approved depreciation rate to the gross investment in a particular class of property within the electric
and gas segments. Consumers performs depreciation studies periodically to determine appropriate
group lives. The composite depreciation rates for Consumers’ properties are as follows:

Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Electric utility property 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Gas utility property 2.9% 3.6% 3.6%
Other property 7.6% 8.5% 8.7%

Property, Plant, and Equipment: Consumers records property, plant, and equipment at original cost
when placed into service. The cost includes labor, material, applicable taxes, pension, other benefits,
and AFUDC, if applicable. Consumers’ property, plant, and equipment is recoverable through its
general rate making process. For additional details, see Note 7, Utility Rate Matters.

When utility property is retired or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business, Consumers
records the original cost to accumulated depreciation, along with associated cost of removal, net of
salvage. Consumers recognizes gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of non-regulated assets in
income. Cost of removal collected from customers, but not spent, is recorded as a regulatory liability.

Consumers capitalizes AFUDC on regulated major construction projects, except pollution control
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facilities on its fossil-fueled power plants and where financing costs are specifically approved by the
MPSC in rates. AFUDC represents the estimated cost of debt and authorized return on equity funds
used to finance construction additions. Consumers records the offsetting credit as a reduction of interest
for the amount representing the borrowed funds component and as other income for the equity funds
component on the Consolidated Statements of Income. When construction is completed and the
property is placed in service, Consumers depreciates and recovers the capitalized AFUDC from
customers over the life of the related asset. The following table shows Consumers’ electric, gas, and
common composite AFUDC capitalization rates:

Years ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
AFUDC capitalization rate 7.6% 7.7% 7.4%

Consumers capitalizes the purchase and development of internal-use computer software. These costs
are expensed evenly over the estimated useful life of the internal-use computer software. If computer
software is integral to computer hardware, then its cost is capitalized and depreciated with the hardware.

The types of costs capitalized are consistent for all periods presented by the financial statements. For
additional details on property, plant, and equipment, see Note 15, Property, Plant, and Equipment.

Property Taxes: Property taxes are based on the taxable value of Consumers’ real and personal
property assessed by local taxing authorities. Consumers records property tax expense over the fiscal
year of the taxing authority for which the taxes are levied based on Consumers’ budgeted customer
sales. The deferred property tax balance represents the amount of Consumers’ accrued property tax that
will be recognized over future governmental fiscal periods.

Reclassifications: Consumers has reclassified certain prior-period amounts on its Consolidated
Financial Statements to conform to the presentation for the current period. These reclassifications did
not affect consolidated net income or cash flows for the periods presented.

Restricted Cash: Consumers classifies restricted cash dedicated for repayment of Securitization bonds
as a current asset, as the related payments occur within one year.

Trade Receivables and Notes Receivable: Accounts receivable comprise trade receivables and
unbilled receivables. Consumers records its accounts receivable at cost, which approximates fair value.
Consumers establishes an allowance for uncollectible accounts and loan losses based on historical
losses, management’s assessment of existing economic conditions, customer trends, and other factors.
Consumers assesses late payment fees on trade receivables based on contractual past-due terms
established with customers. Consumers charges off accounts deemed uncollectible to operating

expense.

Unamortized Debt Premium, Discount, and Expense: Consumers defers premiums, discounts, and
issuance costs of long-term debt and amortizes those costs over the terms of the debt issues. For the
non-regulated portion of Consumers’ business, refinancing costs are expensed as incurred. For the
regulated portions of Consumers’ business, any remaining unamortized premiums, discounts, and
issuance costs associated with refinanced debt are amortized over the term of the newly issued debt.
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2: OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSE

The following table shows the components of Consumers’ Other income and Other expense:

In Millions
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Other income:
Gain on SERP investment $ 5 % - $ 10
Gain on investment - - 7
Return on stranded and security costs 5 5 6
Gain on CMS Energy common stock - - 4
Electric restructuring return - 1 2
All other 11 6 3
Total other income $ 21 § 12§ 32
Other expense:
Unrealized investment loss $ - $ @16 $ -
Abandoned project - - ®)
Civic and political expenditures 3) ) (2)
All other (8) (N 4)
Total other expense $ an $ @8 § (14

3: UTILITY REGULATION

Consumers is subject to the actions of the MPSC and the FERC and prepares its consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the provisions of regulatory accounting. A utility must apply regulatory
accounting when its rates are designed to recover specific costs of providing regulated services. Under
regulatory accounting, Consumers records regulatory assets or liabilities for certain transactions that

would have been treated as revenue or expense by non-regulated businesses.
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December 31, 2009

Consumers reflected the following regulatory assets and liabilities, which incl

non-current amounts, on its Consolidated Balance Sheets.

uded both current and

In Millions
End of
recovery or
refund
December 31 period 2009 2008
Assets Earning a Return (a):
Stranded Costs 2013 $ 67 $ 71
Customer Choice Act 2013 42 90
MGP sites (Note 6) 2020 28 31
Energy optimization plan (b)(c) various 10 -
Uncollectible expense tracker (Note 7) n/a 6 -
Decoupling mechanism (Note 7) n/a 5 -
Electric restructuring implementation plan 2009 - 3
Other (d) various 37 44
Assets Not Earning a Return:
Postretirement benefits (Note 12) various 1,464 1,450
Securitized costs (Note 8) 2015 364 416
Big Rock nuclear decommissioning and related costs (Note 7) n/a 85 129
ARO (Note 16) various 100 92
Unamortized debt costs n/a 56 66
MGP sites (Note 6) n/a 35 38
Other (d) various 11 8
Total regulatory assets (e) $ 2,310 $ 2,438
Cost of removal (Note 16) n/a $ 1,247 $ 1,203
Income taxes, net (Note 12) n/a 529 519
ARO (Note 16) various 130 137
Big Rock nuclear decommissioning and related costs (Note 7) 2011 86 -
Palisades refund (Note 7) (f) 2010 85 120
Renewable energy plan (g) n/a 25 -
Self-implemented electric rate refund (Note 7) 2010 17 -
Energy optimization plan (b) n/a 6 -
Other (d) various 11 9
Total regulatory liabilities (e) $ 2,136 $ 1,988

(a) The MPSC has authorized Consumers to recover a 10.7 percent return on equity for regulatory assets

specific to Consumers’ electric business in its electric rates and a 10.6 percent return on equity for
regulatory assets specific to Consumers’ gas business in its gas rates.

(b) In order to achieve annual sales reduction targets mandated by the 2008 Energy Legislation,

Consumers launched an energy optimization plan, which is funded through a customer surcharge

authorized by the MPSC. At December 31, 2009, for certain customer classes, Consumers’ spending
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exceeded surcharges collected; accordingly, Consumers recorded a regulatory asset of $4 million for
these amounts. For other customer classes, total surcharges collected exceeded Consumers’ spending;
this excess amount of $6 million is reported as a regulatory liability. These amounts are reported in
non-current regulatory assets and liabilities, because the period in which Consumers will collect and
spend the surcharges is beyond one year.

(c) The MPSC has approved an energy optimization incentive mechanism that provides a financial
incentive if Consumers’ energy savings exceed annual targets established by the MPSC. Consumers
will request $6 million, the maximum incentive, from the MPSC through the energy optimization
reconciliation case to be filed in March 2010. Consumers reported the incentive in non-current

regulatory assets.

(d) At December 31, 2009 and 2008, other regulatory assets included a gas inventory regulatory asset
and OPEB and pension expense incurred in excess of the MPSC-approved amount. Consumers will
recover the OPEB and pension regulatory assets from its customers by 2011. Other regulatory liabilities
included AFUDC collected in excess of the MPSC-approved amount and a provision for revenue
subject to refund related to Consumers’ self-implemented gas rates.

(e) At December 31, 2009, Consumers classified $19 million of regulatory assets as current regulatory
assets and $145 million of regulatory liabilities as current regulatory liabilities. At December 31, 2008,
Consumers classified $19 million of regulatory assets as current regulatory assets and $120 million of
regulatory liabilities as current regulatory liabilities.

(f) The Palisades and Big Rock ISFSI sale transaction resulted in $390 million of excess sales proceeds
and decommissioning amounts. The 2007 MPSC order approving the sale transaction required that
Consumers credit $255 million of that amount to its retail customers by December 2008. In 2008, the
MPSC instructed Consumers to offset the remaining $135 million of excess sales proceeds and
decommissioning fund balances with $26 million of transaction costs from the sale. In May 2009, the
MPSC required Consumers to distribute to customers $36 million of proceeds from the sale. In
Consumers’ 2009 electric rate order, the MPSC ordered Consumers to refund the remaining $73 million
of excess sales proceeds and decommissioning fund balances to customers. At December 31, 2009, the
Palisades regulatory liability of $85 million comprised $73 million of excess sales proceeds and the
remaining unpaid balance of the $36 million of proceeds, and it was reported in current regulatory
liabilities, as the proceeds will be credited to customers within one year.

(g) The 2008 Energy Legislation requires that at least ten percent of Consumers’ electric sales volume
come from renewable energy sources by 2015, and includes requirements for specific renewable
capacity additions. Under Consumers’ renewable energy plan, it will meet this requirement by entering
into long-term agreements to purchase power from third parties and by building its own renewable
energy generating facilities. The MPSC authorized Consumers to implement a customer surcharge to
fund its renewable energy plan. At December 31, 2009, total surcharges collected from gas and electric
customers exceeded Consumers’ spending. This excess amount is reported in the non-current portion of
regulatory liabilities as the period Consumers will spend the surcharges collected is beyond one year.

Consumers’ PSCR and GCR mechanisms also represent probable future revenues that will be recovered

from customers or previously collected revenues that will be refunded to customers through the
ratemaking process. Underrecoveries are included in Accrued power supply and gas revenue and
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overrecoveries are included in Accrued rate refunds on Consumers’ Consolidated Balance Sheets. For
additional details on Consumers’ PSCR and GCR mechanisms, see Note 7, Utility Rate Matters.

Consumers reflected the following regulatory assets and liabilities for PSCR and GCR underrecoveries
and overrecoveries on its Consolidated Balance Sheets:

In Millions
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008
Regulatory assets for PSCR and GCR underrecoveries $ 48 $ 7
Regulatory liabilities for PSCR and GCR overrecoveries $ 21 $ 7

4: NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
IMPLEMENTATION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

SFAS No. 168, The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, codified in ASC 105-10, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles: This
standard, which was effective for Consumers July 1, 2009, establishes the ASC as the single source of
authoritative nongovernmental GAAP, except for SEC rules and interpretive releases, which are also
authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. The ASC supersedes all existing non-SEC accounting and
reporting standards. Consumers has included references to the ASC in its Consolidated Financial
Statements and notes where appropriate.

SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment to ARB
No. 51, codified in ASC 810-10, Consolidation: Under this standard, which was effective for
Consumers January 1, 2009, ownership interests in subsidiaries held by third parties, previously referred
to as minority interests, are presented as noncontrolling interests and shown separately on the parent’s
balance sheet within equity. In addition, net income attributable to noncontrolling interests is included
in net income on the income statement. Consumers has applied these provisions to current and prior
periods presented in its Consolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 133, codified in ASC 815-10, Derivatives and Hedging: This standard, which was
effective for Consumers January 1, 2009, requires enhanced disclosures about how and why derivatives
are used, how derivatives and related hedged items are accounted for, and how derivatives and any
related hedged items affect financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. This standard did
not impact Consumers’ consolidated income, cash flows, or financial position. For additional details on
Consumers’ derivatives, see Note 10, Derivative Instruments.

FSP FAS 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or
Liability Have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly, codified in
ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures: This standard, which was effective for
Consumers April 1, 2009, provides guidance on determining whether there has been a significant
decrease in market activity for an asset or liability and whether quoted prices may reflect distressed
transactions. This guidance indicates that entities should not rely on distressed prices in determining fair
value, but may instead use alternative valuation techniques, such as discounting future cash flows
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assuming an orderly transaction. This standard also requires quarterly disclosures about the inputs and
valuation techniques used in fair value measurements. Previously, only annual disclosures about
valuation techniques were required. See Note 5, Fair Value Measurements, for the required disclosures.
This standard had no impact on Consumers’ consolidated income, cash flows, or financial position.

FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments,
codified in ASC 320-10, Investments — Debt and Equity Securities: This standard, which was effective
for Consumers April 1, 2009, amends the guidance for determining whether an other-than-temporary
impairment has occurred for debt securities. Entities no longer need to assert both the intent and ability
to hold an impaired debt security until recovery to avoid recording an other-than-temporary impairment.
Instead, an entity must consider whether it intends to sell the security or whether it is more likely than
not that it will be required to sell the security prior to recovery. If either of these criteria are met, the full
impairment should be recognized in earnings. If neither criterion is met, only impairments due to credit
losses should be recorded in earnings, while impairments related to other factors should be recorded in
other comprehensive income. This standard also includes additional disclosure requirements. This
standard had no impact on Consumers’ Consolidated Financial Statements; however, this new guidance
will be incorporated in future assessments of other-than-temporary impairments of debt securities.

FSP FAS 132(R)-1, Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets, codified in ASC
715-20, Compensation — Retirement Benefits — Defined Benefit Plans — General: This standard, which
was effective for Consumers December 31, 2009, requires expanded annual disclosures about
postretirement benefit plan assets. This standard did not impact Consumers’ consolidated income, cash
flows, or financial position. See Note 11, Retirement Benefits, for further information on the accounting
for postretirement benefit plans and for disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets.

EITF Issue 08-5, Issuer’s Accounting for Liabilities Measured at Fair Value with a Third-Party Credit
Enhancement, codified in ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures: This standard,
which was effective for Consumers January 1, 2009, concludes that the fair value measurement of a
liability should not consider the effect of a third-party credit enhancement or guarantee supporting the
liability. To comply with this standard, Consumers adjusted the methods it uses to determine the fair
values of certain long-term debt instruments for its fair value disclosure. For the fair value disclosures,
see Note 9, Financial Instruments. This standard had no impact on Consumers’ consolidated income,
cash flows, or financial position.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

SFAS No. 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB Statement No.
140, codified through ASU No. 2009-16, Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860): Accounting for
Transfers of Financial Assets: This standard, which was effective for Consumers January 1, 2010,
removes the concept of a QSPE from guidance relating to transfers of financial assets and
extinguishments of liabilities. It also removes the exceptions from applying guidance relating to VIEs to
QSPEs. This standard revises and clarifies when an entity is required to derecognize a financial asset
that it has transferred to another entity. It further clarifies how to measure beneficial interests received
as proceeds in connection with a transfer of a financial asset, and introduces the concept of a
“participating interest,” the conditions of which must be met for a partial asset transfer to qualify for sale
accounting treatment. This standard also requires enhanced disclosures related to continuing
involvement with transferred financial assets. Under this standard, future transactions entered into
under Consumers’ revolving accounts receivable sales program, discussed in Note 8, Financings and
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Capitalization, would be accounted for as secured borrowings rather than as sales. Consumers would
present outstanding amounts under the program as short-term debt collateralized by accounts receivable.

SFAS No. 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), codified through ASU No. 2009-17,
Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with
Variable Interest Entities: This standard, which was effective for Consumers January 1, 2010, amends
the criteria used to determine which enterprise, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a VIE. It
replaces the quantitative calculation of risks and rewards with a qualitative approach focused on
identifying which enterprise (1) has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly
impact the entity’s economic performance and (2) has the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the
right to receive benefits from the entity. This standard also requires ongoing assessments of whether an
enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a VIE. Consumers is evaluating the impact of this standard on
its Consolidated Financial Statements. ‘

ASU No. 2010-06, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements: This standard expands the
required quarterly disclosures about fair value measurements that are included in Note 5, Fair Value
Measurements. This standard requires information on transfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2 of the fair
value hierarchy. In addition, this standard requires gross reporting of purchases, sales, issuances, and
settlements in the reconciliation of Level 3 fair values, rather than reporting this activity as one net
amount. This standard also clarifies certain existing disclosure requirements. This standard was
effective for Consumers January 1, 2010, except for the gross reporting of Level 3 fair value activity,
which will be effective January 1, 2011. This standard will not impact Consumers’ consolidated
income, cash flows, or financial position.

5: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Accounting standards define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. When measuring fair value,
Consumers is required to incorporate all assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an
asset or liability, including assumptions about risk. A fair value hierarchy prioritizes inputs used to
measure fair value according to their observability in the market. The three levels of the fair value
hierarchy are as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2 inputs are observable, market-based inputs, other than Level 1 prices. Level 2 inputs
may include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in
inactive markets, interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, credit
risks, default rates, and inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data.

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs that reflect Consumers’ own assumptions about how
market participants would value its assets and liabilities.

To the extent possible, Consumers uses quoted market prices or other observable market pricing data in
valuing assets and liabilities measured at fair value. If this information is unavailable, Consumers uses
market-corroborated data or reasonable estimates about market participant assumptions. Consumers
classifies fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level of input that
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is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summarizes, by level within the fair value hierarchy, Consumers’ assets and
liabilities reported at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2009:

In Millions
Total - Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 31 $ 31 $ - $ -
Restricted cash equivalents 5 5 - -
CMS Energy Common Stock 29 29 - -
Nonqualified deferred compensation plan assets 4 4 - -
SERP:
Cash equivalents 30 30 - -
State and municipal bonds 16 - 16 -
Total $ 115 $ 99 $ 16 $ -
Liabilities:
Nonqualified deferred compensation plan liabilities $ 4 $ 4 $ - $ -
Total $§ 4 $ 4 $ - $ -
The following table summarizes, by level within the fair value hierarchy, Consumers’ assets and
liabilities reported at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2008:
In Millions
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 56 $ 56 $ - $§ -
Restricted cash equivalents 5 5 - -
CMS Energy Common Stock 19 19 - -
Nonqualified deferred compensation plan assets 3 3 - -
SERP:
Mutual fund 25 25 - -
State and municipal bonds 19 - 19 -
Total $ 127 $ 108 $§ 19 $ -
Liabilities:
Nonqualified deferred compensation plan liabilities $ 3 $ 3 $ - $ -
Derivative instruments 1 - 1 -
Total $ 4 $ 3 § 1 $§ -

Cash Equivalents: Cash equivalents and restricted cash equivalents consist of money market funds with
daily liquidity. The funds invest in U.S. Treasury notes, other government-backed securities, and
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repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury notes.

Nongualified Deferred Compensation Plan Assets: Consumers’ nonqualified deferred compensation
plan assets are invested in various mutual funds. Consumers values these assets using a market
approach, using the daily quoted NAV provided by the fund managers that are the basis for transactions
to buy or sell shares in each fund. Consumers reports these assets in Other non-current assets on its
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

SERP Assets: Consumers values its SERP assets using a market approach, incorporating prices and
other relevant information from market transactions.

The SERP cash equivalents consist of a money market fund with daily liquidity, which invests in state
and municipal securities. At December 31, 2008, the SERP held an investment in an S&P 500 Index
mutual fund. The fund’s equity securities were listed on an active exchange. The fair value of the
SERP mutual fund was based on the quoted NAV of the mutual fund, derived from the daily closing
prices of the equity securities held by the fund. The NAV was the basis for transactions to buy or sell
shares in the fund. In November 2009, Consumers sold its interests in the fund and invested the sales
proceeds in the money market fund.

Consumers values its SERP state and municipal bonds using a matrix pricing model that incorporates
Level 2 market-based information. The fair value of the bonds is derived from various observable
inputs, including benchmark yields, reported securities trades, broker/dealer quotes, bond ratings, and
general information on market movements for investment grade state and municipal securities normally
considered by market participants when pricing such debt securities. Consumers reports its SERP assets
in Other non-current assets on its Consolidated Balance Sheets. For additional details about SERP
securities, see Note 9, Financial Instruments.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan Liabilities: Consumers values its non-qualified deferred
compensation plan liabilities based on the fair values of the plan assets, as they reflect what Consumers
owes the plan participants in accordance with their investment elections. Consumers reports all of its
nonqualified deferred compensation plan liabilities in Other non-current liabilities on its Consolidated

Balance Sheets.

Derivative Instruments: Consumers values its derivative instruments using either a market approach
that incorporates information from market transactions, or an income approach that discounts future
expected cash flows to a present value amount. Consumers uses various inputs to value the derivatives
depending on the type of contract and the availability of market data.

For all fair values other than Level 1 prices, Consumers incorporates adjustments for the risk of
nonperformance. For derivative assets, a credit adjustment is applied against the asset based on the
published default rate for the credit rating that Consumers assigns to the counterparty based on an
internal credit-scoring model. This model considers various inputs, including the counterparty’s
financial statements, credit reports, trade press, and other information that would be available to market
participants. To the extent that the internal ratings are comparable to credit ratings published by
independent rating agencies, the resulting credit adjustment is classified within Level 2. If the internal
model results in a rating that is outside of the range of ratings given by the independent agencies and the
credit adjustment is significant to the overall valuation, the derivative fair value is classified as Level 3.
Consumers adjusts its derivative liabilities downward to reflect the risk of its own nonperformance,
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based on its published credit ratings. Adjustments for credit risk using the approach outlined within this
paragraph are not materially different from the adjustments that would result from using credit default
swap rates for the contracts presently held. For further details about derivative contracts, see Note 10,
Derivative Instruments.

6: CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

ELECT 18]

Electric Environmental Matters: Consumers’ operations are subject to environmental laws and
regulations. Generally, Consumers has been able to recover, in customer rates, the costs to operate its
facilities in compliance with these laws and regulations.

Cleanup and Solid Waste: Under NREPA, Consumers will ultimately incur remediation and other
response activity costs at a number of sites. Consumers believes that these costs should be recoverable
in rates under current ratemaking policies, but cannot guarantee that outcome. At December 31, 2009,
Consumers had a recorded liability of $1 million, its estimated probable NREPA liability, in accordance
with applicable accounting standards.

Consumers is a potentially responsible party at a number of contaminated sites administered under the
Superfund. Superfund liability is joint and several. In addition to Consumers, many other creditworthy
parties with substantial assets are potentially responsible with respect to the individual sites. Based on
its experience, Consumers estimates that its share of the total liability for known Superfund sites will be
between $2 million and $8 million. Various factors, including the number of potentially responsible
parties involved with each site, affect Consumers’ share of the total liability. At December 31, 2009,
Consumers had a recorded liability of $2 million, the minimum amount in the range of its estimated

probable Superfund liability.

The timing of payments related to Consumers’ remediation and other response activities at its Superfund
and NREPA sites is uncertain. Periodically, Consumers receives information about new sites, which
leads it to review its cost estimates. Any significant change in the underlying assumptions, such as an
increase in the number of sites, different remediation techniques, nature and extent of contamination,
and legal and regulatory requirements, could affect its estimates of NREPA and Superfund liability.

Ludington PCB: In 1998, during routine maintenance activities, Consumers identified PCB as a
component in certain paint, grout, and sealant materials at Ludington. Consumers removed and replaced
part of the PCB material with non-PCB material. Since proposing a plan to take action with respect to
the remaining materials, Consumers has had several communications with the EPA. Consumers is not
able to predict when the EPA will issue a final ruling and cannot predict the financial impact or outcome

of this matter.

Electric Utility Plant Air Permit Issues and Notices of Violation: In 2007, Consumers received a
NOV/FOV from the EPA alleging that fourteen utility boilers exceeded the visible emission limits in
their associated air permits. Consumers has responded formally to the NOV/FOV denying the
allegations. In addition, the EPA has alleged that some utilities have classified incorrectly major plant
modifications as RMRR rather than seeking permits from the EPA or state regulatory agencies to modify
their plants. Consumers responded to information requests from the EPA on this subject in the past.

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 123-Notes



Name of Respondent This Report is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [X] An Original (mo, Da, Y1)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[ 1A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

Consumers believes that it has properly interpreted the requirements of RMRR. In 2008, Consumers
received a NOV for three of its coal-fueled facilities alleging, among other things, violations of NSR
and PSD regulations relating to ten projects from 1986 to 1998 allegedly subject to NSR review.

Consumers is engaged in discussions with the EPA on all of these matters. Depending upon the
outcome of these discussions, the EPA could bring legal action against Consumers and/or Consumers
could be required to install additional pollution control equipment at some or all of its coal-fueled
electric generating plants, surrender emission allowances, engage in Supplemental Environmental
Programs, and/or pay fines. Additionally, Consumers would need to assess the viability of continuing
operations at certain plants. Consumers cannot predict the financial impact or outcome of these matters.
Although the potential costs relating to these matters could be material and cost recovery cannot be
assured, Consumers expects that it would be able to recover such costs in rates, consistent with the
recovery of other reasonable costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations.

Nuclear Matters:

DOE Litigation: In 1997, a United States Court of Appeals decision confirmed that the DOE was to
begin accepting deliveries of spent nuclear fuel for disposal by January 1998. Subsequent United States
Court of Appeals litigation, in which Consumers and other utilities participated, has not been successful
in producing more specific relief for the DOE’s failure to accept the spent nuclear fuel.

A number of court decisions support the right of utilities to pursue damage claims in the United States
Court of Claims against the DOE for failure to take delivery of spent nuclear fuel. Consumers filed a
complaint in 2002. If Consumers’ litigation against the DOE is successful, Consumers plans to use any
recoveries as reimbursement for the incurred costs of spent nuclear fuel storage during Consumers’
ownership of Palisades and Big Rock. Consumers cannot predict the financial impact or outcome of this
matter. The sale of Palisades and the Big Rock ISFSI did not transfer the right to any recoveries from
the DOE related to costs of spent nuclear fuel storage incurred during Consumers’ ownership of

Palisades and Big Rock. '

Nuclear Fuel Disposal Cost: Consumers has a recorded liability of $163 million for amounts it
collected from customers before 1983 to fund the disposal of spent nuclear fuel. This amount, which
includes interest of $119 million, is payable to the DOE when it begins to accept delivery of spent
nuclear fuel. In conjunction with the sale of Palisades and the Big Rock ISFSI in 2007, Consumers
retained this obligation and provided a letter of credit to Entergy as security for this obligation.

AS UT ENCIE

Gas Environmental Matters: Consumers expects to incur remediation and other response activity
costs at a number of sites under the NREPA. These sites include 23 former MGP facilities. Consumers
operated the facilities on these sites for some part of their operating lives. For some of these sites,
Consumers has no current ownership or may own only a portion of the original site. At

December 31, 2009, Consumers estimated its undiscounted remaining remediation and other response
activity costs to be between $35 million and $49 million. Generally, Consumers has been able to
recover most of its costs to date through proceeds from insurance settlements and customer rates.
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At December 31, 2009, Consumers had a recorded liability of $35 million and a regulatory asset of

$63 million that included $28 million of deferred MGP expenditures. The timing of payments related to
the remediation and other response activity at Consumers’ former MGP sites is uncertain. Consumers
expects its remediation and other response activity costs to average $6 million annually over the next
five years. Consumers periodically reviews these cost estimates. Any significant change in the
underlying assumptions, such as an increase in the number of sites, changes in remediation techniques,
or legal and regulatory requirements, could affect Consumers’ estimates of annual response activity
costs and MGP liability.

FERC Investigation: In 2008, Consumers received a data request relating to an investigation the
FERC is conducting into possible violations of the FERC’s posting and competitive bidding regulations
related to releases of firm capacity on natural gas pipelines. Consumers responded to the FERC’s first
data request in the first quarter of 2008. The FERC has also taken depositions and Consumers has
responded to additional data requests. In August 2009, Consumers received a letter presenting the
preliminary view of the FERC staff that Consumers violated a regulation in connection with certain
capacity release transactions from August 2005 through October 2007. Consumers submitted a
response and defense of its views to the FERC in September 2009. In February 2010, the FERC Office
of Enforcement informed Consumers that it was closing the investigation without any sanctions.

ARA E

Consumers enters into various agreements containing tax and other indemnity provisions for which it is
unable to estimate the maximum potential obligation. These factors include unspecified exposure under
certain agreements. Consumers considers the likelihood that it would be required to perform or incur
substantial losses related to these indemnities to be remote. At December 31, 2009, the maximum
obligation and carrying amounts for Consumers’ guarantees were immaterial.

OTHER TINGEN

In addition to the matters disclosed in this Note and Note 7, Utility Rate Matters, there are certain
lawsuits and administrative proceedings before various courts and governmental agencies arising from
the ordinary course of business to which Consumers is a party. These lawsuits and proceedings may
involve personal injury, property damage, contracts, environmental issues, federal and state taxes, rates,
licensing, and other matters. Further, Consumers occasionally self-reports certain regulatory
non-compliance matters that may or may not eventually result in administrative proceedings.
Consumers believes that the outcome of any one of these proceedings will not have a material adverse
effect on its consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.
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CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

Purchase Obligations: The following table summarizes Consumers’ contractual cash obligations for
each of the periods presented.

At December 31, 2009 In Millions
Payments Due
One to Three to More
Less Than Three Five Than Five
Total One Year Years Years Years
Purchase obligations $14,217 $1,978 $2,853 $1,534 $7,852
Purchase obligations — related parties 1,737 79 169 186 1,303

Purchase obligations are long-term contracts for the purchase of commodities and services. These
obligations include operating contracts used to ensure adequate supply with generating facilities that
meet PURPA requirements. The commodities and services include natural gas and associated
transportation, electricity, and coal and associated transportation.

The MCV PPA: Consumers has a 35-year PPA that began in 1990 with the MCV Partnership to
purchase 1,240 MW of electricity. The MCV PPA provides for:

a capacity charge of $10.14 per MWh of available capacity;
a fixed energy charge based on Consumers’ annual average base load coal generating plant
operating and maintenance cost;

e avariable energy charge for all delivered energy that reflects the MCV Partnership’s cost of
production;

e a$5 million annual contribution by the MCV Partnership to a renewable resources program;
and

e an option for Consumers to extend the MCV PPA for five years or purchase the MCV Facility
at the conclusion of the MCV PPA’s term in March 2025.

Capacity and energy charges, net of RCP replacement energy and benefits, under the MCV PPA were
$246 million in 2009, $320 million in 2008, and $464 million in 2007. Based on a 2008 contract
amendment and approval by the MPSC that allows Consumers to manage the contract more cost
effectively, Consumers estimates that capacity and energy charges under the MCV PPA will range from
$240 million to $330 million annually.

The Palisades PPA: Consumers has a PPA expiring in 2022 with Entergy to purchase all of the
capacity and energy produced by Palisades, up to the annual average capacity of 798 MW. Consumers
estimates that capacity and energy payments under the Palisades PPA will average $320 million
annually. Consumers’ total purchases of capacity and energy under the PPA were $276 million in 2009,
$298 million in 2008, and $180 million in 2007. For further details about Palisades, see Note 14,

Leases.
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7: UTILITY RATE MATTERS
ELECTRIC UTILITY RATE MATTERS

Power Supply Cost Recovery: The PSCR process is designed to allow Consumers to recover all of its
power supply costs if incurred under reasonable and prudent policies and practices. The MPSC reviews
these costs, policies, and practices in annual plan and reconciliation proceedings. Consumers adjusts its
PSCR billing factor monthly in order to minimize the over- or underrecovery amount in the annual

PSCR reconciliation.

The following table summarizes the PSCR reconciliation filings pending with the MPSC:

Net Over/ PSCR Cost of
PSCR Year Date Filed (Under) recovery Power Sold
2007 March 2008 $(42) million (a) $1.6 billion
2008 March 2009 $ 2 million (b) $1.7 billion

(a) In the 2007 PSCR Plan, Consumers expected to offset power supply costs by including a $44 million
credit for proceeds due to customers from the Palisades sale; however, the MPSC directed that those
proceeds be refunded outside of the PSCR process. For additional details on the refunding of the
Palisades sale proceeds, see Note 3, Utility Regulation. In May 2009, the ALJ’s proposal for decision
recommended no PSCR recovery for economic development discounts of $3 million and disallowance
of $4 million of net replacement power costs associated with a crane incident at Consumers’ Campbell

Plant.

(b) In February 2010, the ALJ’s proposal for decision recommended no PSCR recovery for $3 million
of economic development discounts.

PSCR Plans: Consumers submitted to the MPSC its 2009 PSCR plan in September 2008 and its 2010
PSCR plan in September 2009. Under both of these plans, Consumers requested the MPSC’s approval
to apply PSCR factors that include recovery of an economic development discount provided to a large
industrial customer. The MPSC approved this discount in 2005 to promote long-term investments in the

industrial infrastructure of Michigan.

In January 2010, the MPSC approved Consumers’ 2009 PSCR plan with the exception of the recovery
of the discount for the large industrial customer. It was determined in the November 2009 electric rate
case order that recovery of this discount should be provided through the electric general rates that
Consumers self-implemented in May 2009. That order, however, did not address the recovery of the
discount provided from January 2009 through self-implementation, which totaled $4 million.

Consumers cannot predict the outcome of this matter, but will oppose any attempt to prevent recovery of

the unrecovered discount.

Also in the November 2009 electric rate case order, the MPSC increased the amount of base-PSCR
costs Consumers may recover in its electric general rates. As a result of this, and the MPSC’s decision
to allow for recovery of the economic development discount through general rates rather than through
the PSCR, Consumers filed notice with the MPSC in November, revising its proposed maximum PSCR
factor for 2010. Consumers self-implemented this revised 2010 PSCR charge beginning in
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January 2010. While Consumers expects to recover all of its PSCR costs, it cannot predict the financial
impact or outcome of this proceeding.

Electric Rate Cases and Self-Implemented Rates: In November 2008, Consumers filed an
application with the MPSC seeking an annual increase in revenue of $214 million based on an

11 percent authorized return on equity. The filing sought recovery of costs associated with new plant
investments including Clean Air Act investments, higher operating and maintenance costs, and the
approval to recover costs associated with Consumers’ smart grid program.

This was the first electric rate case under the new streamlined regulatory process enacted by the 2008
Energy Legislation. The new provisions generally allow utilities to self-implement rates six months
after filing, subject to refund with interest, unless the MPSC finds good cause to prohibit self-
implementation. The rate of interest to be charged on refunded amounts is LIBOR plus five percent for
the appropriate period. For any portion of a refund that exceeds 25 percent of the annual revenue
increase approved by the MPSC in its final order, the rate of interest charged would be Consumers’
authorized rate of return on equity. The new provisions require the MPSC to issue an order 12 months
after filing, or the rates, as filed, become permanent.

In April 2009, Consumers filed tariff sheets indicating that it planned to self-implement an electric rate
increase in the annual amount of $179 million beginning in May 2009. The MPSC issued an order in
May 2009 requiring that, if Consumers self-implemented the $179 million electric rate increase, it must
simultaneously distribute to customers $36 million of proceeds from the April 2007 sale of Palisades.
Accordingly, in May 2009, Consumers self-implemented an annual electric rate increase of

$179 million, subject to refund with interest, and also implemented a one-time distribution of

$36 million to customers.

In November 2009, the MPSC issued its final order in this case, authorizing Consumers to increase its
rates by $139 million annually, $40 million less than the rate increase self-implemented by Consumers.
The order reflects an authorized return on equity of 10.7 percent and the exclusion from rate base of
amounts associated with an obligation to the DOE for nuclear fuel disposal. The order also requires
Consumers to refund $73 million of proceeds remaining from the April 2007 sale of Palisades. The
order adopts a “pilot” decoupling mechanism effective December 1, 2009, and which, subject to certain
conditions, will allow rates to be adjusted to collect or refund the change in marginal revenue arising
from the difference between the level of average sales per customer adopted in the order and actual
average sales per customer. The order also adopts an uncollectible expense tracking mechanism that
will allow rates to be adjusted to collect or refund 80 percent of the difference between the level of
uncollectible expense included in rates and actual uncollectible expense.

The MPSC directed Consumers to refund to customers the difference between the rates it self-
implemented in May and the rates authorized in this order, plus interest, subject to a reconciliation
proceeding. As of December 31, 2009, Consumers had a recorded regulatory liability of $17 million
related to this refund.

In January 2010, the MPSC granted a petition for rehearing filed by an intervener. This petition
contended that, while the MPSC removed the accrued interest associated with an obligation to the DOE
for nuclear fuel disposal from rate base, it failed to deduct the principal of that obligation of $44 million.
The MPSC agreed and revised its calculation of Consumers’ rate base, which resulted in a $5 million
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decrease in Consumers’ annual electric rates. Effectively, the MPSC, through its final order and
rehearing in this case, has authorized Consumers to increase its rates by $134 million annually.

In January 2010, Consumers filed an application with the MPSC seeking an annual increase in revenue
of $178 million based on an 11 percent authorized return on equity. The filing seeks authority to
recover new investments in system reliability, environmental compliance, and technology
advancements. The following table details the components of the requested increase in revenue:

In Millions
Components of the increase in revenue
Investment in rate base $ 106
Operating and maintenance 49
Cost of capital 18
Gross margin 5
Total $ 178

. Electric Operation and Maintenance Expenditures Show-Cause Order: In December 2005, the
MPSC authorized Consumers to increase its electric rates. In the same order, the MPSC ordered
Consumers to spend certain amounts on future tree-trimming and line-clearing activities, as well as on
the operation and maintenance of Consumers’ fossil-fueled power plants. At that time, the MPSC also
ordered Consumers to establish mechanisms to track these expenditures and stated that the rate increase
was subject to refund with interest if the specified amounts were not spent on these activities.

In October 2009, the MPSC issued a show-cause order alleging that, in 2007, Consumers spent

$14 million less on forestry and fossil-fueled plant operation and maintenance activity than the amount
ordered by the MPSC and that Consumers has not refunded this amount to customers. The

October 2009 show-cause order directed Consumers to explain why it should not be found in violation
of the MPSC’s December 2005 order and subject to applicable sanctions, and why the refunds required
by that order have not yet occurred. Consumers’ response indicated that the total amount it spent on
forestry and fossil-fueled plant operation and maintenance activity for the years 2006 through 2009
approximated the total amounts included in the December 2005 order for these activities. While it
cannot predict the outcome of this proceeding, Consumers does not consider it probable that it will be
required to provide a refund to customers. Accordingly, Consumers has not recorded a provision for
revenue subject to refund.

Big Rock Decommissioning: The MPSC and the FERC regulate the recovery of Consumers’ costs to
decommission Big Rock. Subsequent to 2000, Consumers stopped funding a Big Rock trust fund
because the collection period for an MPSC-authorized decommissioning surcharge expired on that date.
The level of funds provided by the trust fell short of the amount needed to complete decommissioning.
As a result, Consumers provided $44 million of corporate contributions for decommissioning costs and
recorded this amount as a regulatory asset on its Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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In 2008, Consumers filed an application with the MPSC seeking to recover the $44 million Big Rock
decommissioning shortfall from customers. In an order issued in February 2010, the MPSC concluded
that decommissioning surcharges collected during a statutory rate freeze from 2001 through 2003 should
have been deposited in the decommissioning trust fund. The MPSC agreed that Consumers was entitled
to the $44 million decommissioning shortfall, but concluded that Consumers had collected this amount
previously through the decommissioning surcharge in effect during the rate freeze. The MPSC ordered
Consumers to refund the $64 million of revenue collected in excess of decommissioning costs, plus
interest of $22 million, over eighteen months. To reflect the impacts of this MPSC rate order,
Consumers has recognized an $86 million regulatory liability on its Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2009, and a charge to income of $130 million, which comprises $99 million of revenue
collected during the rate freeze and $31 million of interest.

Consumers has paid $30 million to Entergy to assume ownership and responsibility for the Big Rock
ISFSI, and has incurred $55 million for nuclear fuel storage costs as a result of the DOE’s failure to
accept spent nuclear fuel. At December 31, 2009, Consumers had an $85 million regulatory asset
recorded on its Consolidated Balance Sheets for these costs.

Electric Depreciation: In February 2010, Consumers filed an electric depreciation case. As ordered by
the MPSC, Consumers prepared a traditional cost-of-removal study, which supported a $46 million
increase in annual depreciation.

Also in February 2010, Consumers filed an electric depreciation case for Ludington. This case, filed
jointly with Detroit Edison, requests an increase in annual depreciation. Consumers’ share of this
increase is $9 million. Consumers cannot predict the financial impact or outcome of these proceedings.

G TIL

Gas Cost Recovery: The GCR process is designed to allow Consumers to recover all of its purchased
natural gas costs if incurred under reasonable and prudent policies and practices. The MPSC reviews
these costs, policies, and practices in annual plan and reconciliation proceedings. Consumers adjusts its
GCR billing factor monthly in order to minimize the over- or underrecovery amount in the annual GCR

reconciliation.

The following table summarizes the GCR reconciliation filings pending with the MPSC:

GCR Cost of
GCR Year Date Filed  Net Underrecovery Gas Sold
2008-2009 June 2009 $15 million $1.8 billion

GCR Reconciliation for 2007-2008: In December 2009, the MPSC issued an order in Consumers’
2007-2008 GCR reconciliation approving full recovery of $1.7 billion in gas costs and authorized
Consumers to roll into its 2008-2009 GCR plan the overrecovery of $17 million.

GCR Plans: In December 2008, Consumers filed an application with the MPSC seeking approval of a
GCR plan for its 2009-2010 GCR plan year. Using the base GCR ceiling factor it proposed in this plan,
Consumers self-implemented the 2009-2010 GCR charge in April 2009.

In December 2009, Consumers filed an application with the MPSC seeking approval of a GCR plan for
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its 2010-2011 GCR plan year. While Consumers expects to recover all of its GCR costs, it cannot
predict the financial impact or outcome of these proceedings.

Gas Depreciation: In September 2009, the MPSC issued a final order in Consumers’ gas depreciation
case, authorizing the use of depreciation rates filed by Consumers in August 2008. These rates,
previously approved by the MPSC on an interim basis in December 2008, reduced Consumers’
depreciation expense, and its recovery of that expense, by $20 million per year. The MPSC also ordered
Consumers to adopt certain standard retirement units by January 1, 2010. Consumers estimates that the
use of these standard retirement units will increase maintenance expense, and recovery of that expense,
by $10 million annually. In February 2010, the MPSC directed Consumers to begin implementation of
the new standard retirement units at the same time it implements the final rates approved in its pending
gas rate case in the spring of 2010.

Gas Rate Case: In May 2009, Consumers filed an application with the MPSC seeking an annual
increase in revenue of $114 million based on an 11 percent authorized return on equity. The following
table details the components of the requested increase in revenue:

In Millions
Components of the increase in revenue
Impact of sales declines $ 41
Investment in rate base 40
Recovery of operating and maintenance costs 25
Return on equity 8
Total $ 114

Under the new streamlined regulatory process described in the “Consumers’ Electric Utility Rate
Matters — Electric Rate Case and Self-Implemented Rates™ section of this Note, utilities may be allowed
to self-implement rates six months after filing, subject to refund with interest, unless the MPSC finds
good cause to prohibit self-implementation. In November 2009, Consumers self-implemented a gas rate
increase in the annual amount of $89 million, subject to refund with interest. Consumers does not
consider it probable that it will be required to refund a material portion of its self-implemented rates.
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8: FINANCINGS AND CAPITALIZATION

Long-term debt at December 31 follows: In Millions
Interest Rate (%) Maturity 2009 2008

FMBs (a) 4.800 2009 $ - $ 200
4.400 2009 - 150

4.000 2010 250 250

5.000 2012 300 300

5.375 2013 375 375

6.000 2014 200 200

5.000 2015 225 225

5.500 2016 350 350

5.150 2017 250 250

5.650 2018 250 250

6.125 2019 350 350

6.700 2019 500 -

5.650 2020 300 300

5.650 2035 139 142

5.800 2035 175 175

$ 3,664 $ 3,517

Senior notes . 6.875 2018 180 180
Securitization bonds 5.566 (b) 2010-2015 243 277
Nuclear fuel disposal liability (c) 163 162

Tax-exempt pollution control revenue bonds Various  2010-2035 161 161
Total Consumers principal amount outstanding $ 4411 $ 4,297
Current amounts (343) (383)
Net unamortized discount (5) 6)
Total Consumers Long-term debt $ 4,063 $ 3,908

(a) The weighted-average interest rate for Consumers’ FMBs was 5.583 percent at December 31, 2009
and 5.329 percent at December 31, 2008.

(b) The weighted-average interest rate for Consumers’ Securitization bonds was 5.566 percent at
December 31, 2009 and 5.495 percent at December 31, 2008.

(c) The maturity date of the nuclear fuel disposal liability is uncertain.
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Financings: The following is a summary of significant long-term debt transactions during 2009:

Principal Interest  Issue/Retirement

(in millions)  Rate (%) Date Maturity Date
DEBT ISSUANCES:
FMBs 500  6.70% March 2009 September 2019
DEBT RETIREMENTS:
FMBs 200  4.80% February 2009 February 2009
FMBs 150  4.40% August 2009 August 2009

FMBs: Consumers secures its FMBs by a mortgage and lien on substantially all of its property.
Consumers’ ability to issue FMBs is restricted by certain provisions in the First Mortgage Bond
Indenture and the need for regulatory approvals under federal law. Restrictive issuance provisions in the
First Mortgage Bond Indenture include achieving a two-times interest coverage ratio and having
sufficient unfunded net property additions.

Regulatory Authorization for Financings: The FERC has authorized Consumers to have outstanding
at any one time, up to $1.0 billion of secured and unsecured short-term securities for general corporate
purposes. The remaining availability is $520 million at December 31, 2009. The FERC has also
authorized Consumers to issue and sell up to $2.1 billion of secured and unsecured long-term securities
for general corporate purposes. The remaining availability is $1.0 billion at December 31, 2009. The
authorizations are for the period ending June 30, 2010. Any long-term issuances during the
authorization period are exempt from the FERC’s competitive bidding and negotiated placement

requirements.

Securitization Bonds: Certain regulatory assets owned by Consumers’ subsidiary, Consumers
Funding, collateralize Consumers’ Securitization bonds. The bondholders have no recourse to
Consumers’ other assets. Through its rate structure, Consumers bills customers for Securitization
surcharges to fund the payment of principal, interest, and other related expenses. The surcharges
collected are remitted to a trustee and are not available to creditors of Consumers or creditors of
Consumers’ affiliates other than Consumers Funding. Securitization surcharges totaled $46 million in

2009 and $53 million in 2008.

Debt Maturities: At December 31, 2009, the aggregate annual contractual maturities for long-term
debt for the next five years were:

IN MILLIONS

PAYMENTS DUE
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Long-term debt $343 $37 $339 $ 416 $ 243
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Revolving Credit Facilities: The following secured revolving credit facilities with banks were available at
December 31, 2009:

In Millions
Amount of Amount Letters of Credit Amount
Expiration Date Facility Borrowed Outstanding Available
March 30, 2012 500 . 335 165
November 30, 2010 30 . 30
August 17, 2010 150 . 150

(a) Secured revolving letter of credit facility

Sale of Accounts Receivable: Under a revolving accounts receivable sales program, Consumers may
sell eligible accounts receivable to a wholly owned, consolidated, bankruptcy-remote special-purpose
entity. In turn, the special-purpose entity may sell an undivided interest in up to $250 million of the
receivables, subject to certain eligibility requirements. At December 31, 2009, $250 million of accounts
receivable were eligible for sale, of which $50 million were sold. At December 31, 2008, $250 million
of accounts receivable were eligible for sale, of which $170 million were sold.

The purchaser of the receivables has no recourse against Consumers’ other assets for failure of a debtor
to pay when due and no right to any receivables not sold. Consumers and the special-purpose entity
have accounted for these transfers as sales because the transferred receivables have been legally isolated
from the transferor, the transferee could pledge or exchange the receivables, and the transferor did not
maintain effective control over the receivables. Consumers has not recorded a gain or loss on the
receivables sold nor retained any interest in the receivables sold. Consumers continues to service the

receivables sold to the special-purpose entity.

The following table summarizes certain cash flows under Consumers’ accounts receivable sales
program:

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 2009 2008
Administrative fees $ 3 $ 1
Net cash flow as a result of accounts receivable sales (120) 170
Collections from customers 6,024 6,060

Dividend Restrictions: Under the provisions of its articles of incorporation, at December 31, 2009,
Consumers had $333 million of unrestricted retained earnings available to pay common stock dividends
to CMS Energy. Provisions of the Federal Power Act and the Natural Gas Act appear to restrict
dividends payable by Consumers to the amount of Consumers’ retained earnings. Several decisions
from the FERC suggest that under a variety of circumstances common stock dividends from Consumers
would not be limited to amounts in Consumers’ retained earnings. Any decision by Consumers to pay
common stock dividends in excess of retained earnings would be based on specific facts and
circumstances and would result only after a formal regulatory filing process.

During 2009, Consumers paid $285 million of common stock dividends to CMS Energy.
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Preferred Stock of Subsidiary: Details about Consumers’ preferred stock outstanding follow:

Optional
Redemption =~ Number of Shares In Millions
December 31 Series Price 2009 2008 2009 2008
Cumulative $100 par value,
Authorized 7,500,000 shares,
with no mandatory redemption $4.16 $103.25 68,451 68,451 $ 7 $ 7
$4.50 $110.00 373,148 373,148 37 37
Total Preferred stock of subsidiary $ 44 $ 44

9: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of Consumers’ cash, current accounts and notes receivable, short-term
investments, and current liabilities approximate their fair values because of their short-term nature. The
cost or carrying amounts and fair values of Consumers’ long-term financial instruments were as follows:

In Millions
December 31 2009 2008
Cost or Cost or
Carrying Carrying
Amount Fair Value Amount  Fair Value
Securities available for sale $ 24 $ 45 $ 52 $ 63
Long-term debt (a) 4,406 4,635 4,291 4,073

(a) Includes current portion of long-term debt of $343 million at December 31, 2009 and $383 million at
December 31, 2008.

Consumers estimates the fair value of its long-term debt using quoted prices from market trades of the
debt, if available. In the absence of quoted prices, Consumers calculates market yields and prices for the
debt using a matrix method that incorporates market data for similarly rated debt. Depending on the
information available, other valuation techniques may be used that rely on internal assumptions and

models.

The following table summarizes Consumers’ investment securities:

In Millions
December 31 2009 2008
Unrealized Unrealized  Fair Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value  Cost Gains Losses Value
Available for sale:
SERP:
Mutual fund $ - $ - $ - $ - §$25 $ - $ - $ 25
Municipal bonds 16 - - 16 19 - - 19
Common stock of
CMS Energy 8 21 - 29 8 11 - 19
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The mutual fund classified as available for sale consisted of an investment in an S&P 500 Index mutual
fund. Municipal bonds classified as available for sale consisted of investment-grade state and municipal

bonds.

During 2008, the fair value of Consumers’ SERP investment in the mutual fund declined from

$41 million to $25 million. Consumers determined that the decline in fair value was other than
temporary. Accordingly, Consumers reclassified net unrealized losses of $16 million ($10 million net of
tax) from AOCL to Other expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income and established a new cost
basis of $25 million for these investments, which was equal to fair value at December 31, 2008.

During 2009, the proceeds from Consumers’ sales of SERP securities were $32 million, and $5 million
of gross gains were realized. Consumers reclassified net gains of $3 million from AOCL and included
this amount in net income in 2009. During 2008, the proceeds from Consumers’ sales of SERP
securities were $2 million, and gross gains and losses were immaterial. During 2007, the proceeds from
Consumers’ sales of SERP securities were $29 million, and $11 million of gross gains and $1 million of
gross losses were realized. Consumers reclassified net gains of $7 million from AOCL and included
this amount in net income in 2007.

The fair values of the SERP municipal bonds by contractual maturity at December 31, 2009 were as
follows:

In Millions
Due one year or less $ 1
Due after one year through five years 7
Due after five years through ten years 6
Due after ten years 2
Total $ 16

10: DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

In order to limit exposure to certain market risks, primarily changes in commodity prices, interest rates,
and foreign exchange rates, Consumers may enter into various risk management contracts, such as
forward contracts, futures, options, and swaps. In entering into these contracts, Consumers follows
established policies and procedures under the direction of an executive oversight committee consisting
of senior management representatives and a risk committee consisting of business unit managers.
Consumers does not hold any of its derivatives for trading purposes.

The contracts used to manage market risks may qualify as derivative instruments. If a contract is a
derivative and does not qualify for the normal purchases and sales exception, the contract is recorded on
the balance sheet at its fair value. Each quarter, the resulting asset or liability is adjusted to reflect any
change in the fair value of the contract. Since none of Consumers’ derivatives have been designated as
accounting hedges, all changes in fair value are reported in earnings. For a discussion of how
Consumers determines the fair value of its derivatives, see Note 5, Fair Value Measurements.

Commodity Price Risk: In order to support ongoing operations, Consumers enters into contracts for the
future purchase and sale of various commodities, such as electricity, natural gas, and coal. These
forward contracts are generally long-term in nature and result in physical delivery of the commodity at a
contracted price. Most of these contracts are not subject to derivative accounting because:

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 123-Notes



Name of Respondent This Report is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [X] An Original (mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[ ] A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

e they do not have a notional amount (that is, a number of units specified in a derivative
instrument, such as MWh of electricity or bef of natural gas);
they qualify for the normal purchases and sales exception; or
there is not an active market for the commodity.

Consumers’ coal purchase contracts are not derivatives because there is not an active market for the coal
it purchases. If an active market for coal develops in the future, some of these contracts may qualify as
derivatives. Consumers, which is subject to regulatory accounting, would offset the resulting fair value
gains and losses with changes in regulatory assets and liabilities and would not affect net income.

At December 31, 2009, the fair value of Consumers’ derivative instruments was less than $1 million.

The following table summarizes the effect of Consumers’ derivative instruments on its Consolidated
Statements of Income:

In Millions

Location of Gain (Loss) Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on  Recognized in Income

Twelve months ended December 31, 2009 Derivatives on Derivatives
Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments.

Commodity contracts Other income $ 9

11: RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Consumers provides pension, OPEB, and other retirement benefit plans to employees under a number of
different plans, including:

e anon-contributory, qualified defined benefit Pension Plan (closed to new non-union
participants as of July 1, 2003 and closed to new union participants as of September 1, 2005);

e aqualified cash balance Pension Plan for certain employees hired between July 1, 2003 and
August 31, 2005;

e anon-contributory, qualified DCCP for employees hired on or after September 1, 2005;

e Dbenefits to certain management employees under a non-contributory, nonqualified defined
benefit SERP (closed to new participants as of March 31, 2006);

e Dbenefits to certain management employees under a non-contributory, nonqualified DC SERP
hired on or after April 1, 2006;

e health care and life insurance benefits under an OPEB plan;

e Dbenefits to a selected group of management under a non-contributory, nonqualified EISP; and

e acontributory, qualified defined contribution 401(k) plan.

Pension Plan: The Pension Plan includes funds for most of Consumers’ and its parent company
CMS Energy’s current employees, the employees of their subsidiaries, and Panhandle, a former
CMS Energy subsidiary. The Pension Plan’s assets are not distinguishable by company.

On September 1, 2005, Consumers implemented the DCCP. The DCCP provides an employer
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contribution of five percent of base pay to the existing employees’ 401(k) plan. No employee
contribution is required in order to receive the plan’s employer contribution. All employees hired on or
after September 1, 2005 participate in this plan. Participants in the cash balance Pension Plan, in effect
from July 1, 2003 to September 1, 2005, also participate in the DCCP as of September 1, 2005.
Additional pay credits under the cash balance Pension Plan were discontinued as of that date. The
DCCP expense was $4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, $3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008, and $2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.

SERP: SERP benefits are paid from a trust established in 1988. SERP is not a qualified plan under the
Internal Revenue Code. SERP trust earnings are taxable and trust assets are included in Consumers’
consolidated assets. The following table provides information regarding the SERP trust.

In Millions
SERP
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Trust assets(a) $50 $45 $53
ABO 54 47 48
Contributions 1 - 21

(a) The assets are classified as Other non-current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

On April 1, 2006, Consumers implemented a DC SERP and froze further new participation in the
defined benefit SERP. The DC SERP provides participants benefits ranging from 5 percent to

15 percent of total compensation. The DC SERP requires a minimum of five years of participation
before vesting. Consumers’ contributions to the plan, if any, will be placed in a grantor trust.
Consumers’ trust assets were less than $1 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008. The assets are
classified as Other non-current assets on its Consolidated Balance Sheets. The DC SERP expense was
less than $1 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007.

401(k): The employer’s match for the 401(k) plan is 60 percent on eligible contributions up to the first
six percent of an employee’s wages. The total 401(k) plan cost was $15 million for each of the years
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, and $14 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.

EISP: Consumers implemented a nonqualified EISP in 2002 to provide flexibility in separation of
employment by officers, a selected group of management, or other highly compensated employees.
Terms of the plan may include payment of a lump sum, payment of monthly benefits for life, payment of
premiums for continuation of health care, or any other legally permissible term deemed to be in
Consumers’ best interest to offer. The EISP expense was less than $1 million for each of the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007. The ABO for the EISP was $1 million at

December 31, 2009 and 2008.

OPEB: The OPEB plan covers all regular full-time employees who are covered by the employee health
care plan on the day before they retire from the company at age 55 or older and who have at least ten full
years of applicable continuous service. Regular full-time employees who qualify for a Pension Plan
disability retirement and have 15 years of applicable continuous service are also eligible. Retiree health
care costs were based on the assumption that costs would increase 8.5 percent for those under 65 and

8.0 percent for those over 65 in 2009 and 2010. The rate of increase is assumed to slow to five percent
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for those under and over 65 by 2017 and thereafter.

The health care cost-trend rate assumption affects the estimated costs recorded. A change of one
percentage point in the health care cost-trend assumption would have the following effects:

In Millions
One Percentage  One Percentage
Point Increase ~ Point Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost component $ 17 $ @195
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 193 $ (169)

In 1992, Consumers recorded a liability of $466 million for the accumulated transition obligation and a
corresponding regulatory asset for anticipated recovery in utility rates. The MPSC authorized recovery
of the electric utility portion of these costs in 1994 over 18 years and the gas utility portion in 1996 over

16 years.

Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans Amendments: In
September 2006, the FASB issued an amended standard for accounting for employers’ defined benefit
pension and other postretirement plans. This standard required Consumers to recognize the funded
status of its defined benefit postretirement plans on its Consolidated Balance Sheets at

December 31, 2006. The standard also required Consumers to recognize changes in the funded status of
its plans in the year in which the changes occur. In addition, the standard required that Consumers
change its plan measurement date from November 30 to December 31, effective December 31, 2008. In
the first quarter of 2008, Consumers recorded the measurement date change, which resulted in a

$6 million net-of-tax decrease to retained earnings, a $4 million reduction to regulatory assets, a

$7 million increase in Postretirement benefit liabilities, and a $5 million increase in Deferred tax assets
on its Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In April 2008, the MPSC issued an order in Consumers’ PSCR case that allowed Consumers to collect a
one-time surcharge under a pension and OPEB equalization mechanism. For 2008, Consumers
collected $10 million of pension and $2 million of OPEB surcharge revenue in electric rates.
Consumers recorded a reduction of $12 million of equalization regulatory assets on its Consolidated
Balance Sheets and an increase of $12 million of expense on its Consolidated Statements of Income.
Thus, Consumers’ collection of the equalization mechanism surcharge had no impact on net income for
the year ended December 31, 2008.
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Assumptions: The following tables provide the weighted-average assumptions used in Consumers’
retirement benefits plans to determine benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost:

Weighted Average for Benefit Obligations:

Pension and SERP OPEB
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Discount rate (a) 585%  6.50% 6.40% 6.00% 6.50%  6.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets (b) 8.00% 825% 825% 7.50% 7.75%  1.75%
Mortality table (c) 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000
Rate of compensation increase:
Pension 4.00%  4.00% 4.00%
SERP 5.50% 5.50%  5.50%
Weighted Average for Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
Pension and SERP OPEB
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Discount rate (a) 6.50%  6.40% 5.65% 6.50% 6.50% = 5.65%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets (b) 8.25% 825% 825% 7.75% 1.75%  1.75%
Mortality table (c) 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000
Rate of compensation increase:
Pension 4.00%  4.00% 4.00%
SERP 5.50% 550% 5.50%

(a) The discount rate is set to reflect the rates at which benefits could be effectively settled. It is set
equal to the equivalent single rate that results from a yield curve analysis incorporating projected benefit
payments specific to Consumers’ pension and other postretirement benefit plans and the yields on high
quality corporate bonds rated Aa or better.

(b) Consumers determines its long-term rate of return by considering historical market returns, the
current and expected future economic environment, the capital market principles of risk and return, and
the expert opinions of individuals and firms with financial market knowledge. Consumers considers the
asset allocation of the portfolio in forecasting the future expected total return of the portfolio. The goal
is to determine a long-term rate of return that can be incorporated into the planning of future cash flow
requirements in conjunction with the change in the liability. Annually, Consumers reviews for
reasonableness and appropriateness the forecasted returns for various classes of assets used to construct
an expected return model. Consumers’ expected long-term rate of return on Pension Plan assets was
8.25 percent in 2009. The 2009 actual return on Pension Plan assets was 21 percent, and for 2008 the

actual return was a negative 23 percent.

(c) The mortality assumption is based on the RP-2000 mortality tables with projection of future
mortality improvements using Scale AA, which aligns with the IRS prescriptions for cash funding
valuations under the Pension Protection Act.
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Costs: The following tables summarize the costs and other changes in plan assets and benefit
obligations incurred in Consumers’ retirement benefits plans:

In Millions
Pension and SERP
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Net periodic pension cost
Service cost $ 40 $ 41 $ 47
Interest expense 97 96 84
Expected return on plan assets (83) (78) (75)
Amortization of:
Net loss 40 40 44
Prior service cost 5 6 7
Net periodic pension cost $ 99 $105 $107
Regulatory adjustment (a) - 4 (22)
Net periodic pension cost after regulatory adjustment $ 99 $109 $85
In Millions
OPEB
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Net periodic OPEB cost
Service cost $24 $21 $24
Interest expense 77 69 65
Expected return on plan assets (46) (61) 6y
Amortization of:
Net loss 33 10 23
Prior service credit (10) (10) (10)
Net periodic OPEB cost $78 $29 $45
Regulatory adjustment (a) - 3 (6)
Net periodic OPEB cost after regulatory adjustment $78 $32 $39

(a) Regulatory adjustments are the differences between amounts included in rates and the periodic
benefit cost calculated. The pension regulatory asset had a balance of $29 million at

December 31, 2009 and 2008. The OPEB regulatory asset had a balance of $5 million at
December 31, 2009 and 2008.

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit Pension Plans that will be amortized
into net periodic benefit cost in 2010 from the regulatory asset is $55 million. The estimated net loss
and prior service credit for OPEB plans that will be amortized into net periodic benefit cost in 2010
from the regulatory asset is $23 million.

Consumers amortizes gains and losses in excess of ten percent of the greater of the benefit obligation
and the MRV over the average remaining service period. The estimated time of amortization of gains
and losses is 12 years for pension and 14 years for OPEB. Prior service cost amortization is established
in the years in which the prior service cost first occurred, and are based on the same amortization period
in all future years until the prior service costs are fully recognized. The estimated time of amortization
of new prior service costs is 12 years for pension and ten years for OPEB.
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Reconciliations: The following tables reconcile the funded status of Consumers’ retirement benefits
plans with its retirement benefits plans’ liabilities:

In Millions
Pension Plan
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $1,524 $ 1,565
Service cost 40 45
Interest cost 96 103
Actuarial loss (gain) 145 (66)
Benefits paid (88) (123)
Benefit obligation at end of period (a) $1,717 $1,524
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of period 724 1,078
Actual return on plan assets 165 (231)
Company contribution 206 -
Actual benefits paid (b) (88) (123)
Plan assets at fair value at end of period $ 1,007 $ 724
Funded status at December 31 (c)(d) $ (710) $ (800)
In Millions
SERP OPEB
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2009 2008
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 62 $ 61 $1,219 $1,082
Service cost 1 1 24 23
Interest cost 4 4 77 74
Actuarial loss (gain) 6 ) 104 91
Transfer C)) - - -
Benefits paid (2) 2) (51) (51)
Benefit obligation at end of period (a) $ 67 $ 62 $1373 $1.219
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of period - - 612 785
Actual return on plan assets - - 108 (185)
Company contribution 2 2 55 62
Actual benefits paid (b) 2 2) (50) (50)
Plan assets at fair value at end of period $ - § - $ 725 § 612
Funded status at December 31 (c) $(67) $(62) $ (648 $ (607)

(a) The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 establishes a
prescription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D) and a federal subsidy, which is tax-exempt,
to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is actuarially equivalent to
Medicare Part D. The Medicare Part D annualized reduction in net OPEB cost was $18 million for
2009 and $24 million for 2008. The reduction includes $6 million for 2009 and $7 million for 2008 in

capitalized OPEB costs.
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(b) Consumers received payments of $4 million in 2009 and $5 million in 2008 for the Medicare Part D
subsidies.

(c) Consumers’ liabilities for retirement benefits comprised $1.4 billion classified as non-current and
$3 million classified as current for the year ended December 31, 2009, and $1.4 billion classified as
non-current and $2 million classified as current for the year ended December 31, 2008.

(d) Of the $710 million unfunded status of the Pension Plan at December 31, 2009, $675 million was
attributable to Consumers based on allocation of expenses. Of the $800 million unfunded status of the
Pension Plan at December 31, 2008, $762 million was attributable to Consumers.

The following table provides pension PBO, ABO, and fair value of plan assets:

In Millions

Years Ended December 31 2009 2008
Pension PBO $1,717 $1,524
Pension ABO 1,393 1,240
Fair value of Pension Plan assets 1,007 724

Items Not Yet Recognized as a Component of Net Periodic Benefit Cost: The following table
summarizes the amounts recognized in regulatory assets and AOCL that have not been recognized as
components of net periodic benefit cost. For additional details on regulatory assets, see Note 3, Utility
Regulation.

In Millions
Pension and SERP OPEB
Years ended December 31 2009 2008 2009 2008
Regulatory assets
Net loss $860 $835 $ 604 $ 595
Prior service cost (credit) 27 33 (68) (78)
AOCL
Net loss 14 8 - -
Prior service cost 1 1

Total amounts recognized in regulatory assets and AOCL $902 $877 $536 $517
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Plan Assets: The following tables summarize the fair value of Pension Plan and OPEB plan assets at
December 31, 2009, by asset category and by level within the fair value hierarchy. For additional
details about the fair value hierarchy, see Note 5, Fair Value Measurements.

In Millions
Pension Plan
Total Level 1 Level 2

Asset Category:
Cash and short-term investments (a) $ 65 $ 65 $ -
U.S. government and agencies securities (b) 40 - 40
Corporate debt (c) 145 - 145
State and municipal bonds (e) 4 - 4
Foreign corporate debt (f) 17 - 17
Mutual funds (h) 117 117 -
Pooled funds (i) 619 - 619
Total $ 1,007 $182 $ 825

In Millions

OPEB Plan
Total Level 1 Level 2

Asset Category:
Cash and short-term investments (a) $ 29 $ 29 $ -
U.S. government and agencies securities (b) 157 - 157
Corporate debt (d) 21 - 21
State and municipal bonds (e) 51 - 51
Foreign corporate debt (f) 2 - 2
Common stocks (g) 134 134 -
Mutual funds (h) 17 17 -
Pooled funds (j) 371 - 371
Total $ 782 $180 $ 602

(a) Cash and short-term investments consist of money market funds with daily liquidity.

(b) U.S. government and agencies securities consist of U.S. Treasury notes and other debt securities
backed by the U.S. government and related agencies. These securities are valued based on quoted

market prices.

(¢) Corporate debt investments in the Pension Plan represent both investment grade bonds (63 percent)
and non-investment grade, high-yield bonds (37 percent) of U.S. issuers from diverse industries. These
securities are valued based on quoted market prices, when available, or yields presently available on
comparable securities of issuers with similar credit ratings.

(d) Corporate debt investments in the OPEB plan represent investment grade bonds (62 percent) and

non-investment grade, high-yield bonds (38 percent) of U.S. issuers from diverse industries. These
securities are valued based on quoted market prices, when available, or yields presently available on
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comparable securities of issuers with similar credit ratings.

(e) State and municipal bonds are valued using a matrix pricing model that incorporates Level 2 market-
based information. The fair value of the bonds is derived from various observable inputs, including
benchmark yields, reported securities trades, broker/dealer quotes, bond ratings, and general information
on market movements for investment grade state and municipal securities normally considered by
market participants when pricing such debt securities.

(f) Foreign corporate debt securities are valued based on quoted market prices, when available, or on
yields presently available on comparable securities of issuers with similar credit ratings.

(2) Common stocks in the OPEB plan consist of equity securities with low transaction costs that are
actively managed and that track the S&P 500 Index. These securities are valued at their quoted closing

prices.

(h) Mutual funds represent shares in registered investment companies that are priced based on the
quoted NAV that is the basis for transactions to buy or sell shares in the funds.

(i) Pooled funds in the Pension Plan include both common and collective trust funds as well as special
funds that contain only employee benefit plan assets from two or more unrelated benefit plans. These
funds include investments in U.S. equity securities (56 percent), foreign equity securities (22 percent),
foreign fixed-income securities (16 percent), U.S. fixed-income securities (3 percent), and alternative
investments (3 percent). These investments are valued at the quoted NAV provided by the fund
managers that is the basis for transactions to buy or sell shares in the funds.

(j) Pooled funds in the OPEB plan include both common and collective trust funds as well as special
funds that contain only employee benefit plan assets from two or more unrelated benefit plans. These
funds include investments in U.S. equity securities (89 percent), foreign equity securities (5 percent),
foreign fixed-income securities (4 percent), U.S. fixed-income securities (1 percent) and alternative
investments (1 percent). These investments are valued at the quoted NAV provided by the fund
managers that is the basis for transactions to buy or sell shares in the funds.

The fair value of Pension Plan and OPEB plan assets classified as Level 3 at December 31, 2009 was
less than $1 million.

The following table summarizes Consumers’ contributions to the OPEB plan and Pension Plan:

In Millions
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008
OPEB: (a)
VEBA trust $ 39 $40
401 (h) component 16 10
$ 55 $50
Pension (b) $199 $ -

(a) Consumers plans to contribute $70 million to its OPEB plan in 2010.

(b) Consumers plans to contribute $18 million to its Pension Plan in 2010.
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Contributions include required and discretionary amounts. Actual future contributions will depend on
future investment performance, changes in discount rates, and various factors related to the populations
participating in the plans.

In 2008, Consumers adjusted its target asset allocation for Pension Plan assets to 50 percent equity,

30 percent fixed income, and 20 percent alternative-strategy investments from the previous target of

60 percent equity, 30 percent fixed income, and 10 percent alternative-strategy investments. This
adjustment is being made gradually by the allocation of contributions into alternative assets and the
drawdown of equities to cover plan benefit payments and distributions. This revised target asset
allocation is expected to continue to maximize the long-term return on plan assets, while maintaining a
prudent level of risk. The level of acceptable risk is a function of the liabilities of the plan. Equity
investments are diversified mostly across the S&P 500 Index, with lesser allocations to the S&P MidCap
and SmallCap Indexes and Foreign Equity Funds. Fixed-income investments are diversified across
investment grade instruments of government and corporate issuers as well as high-yield and global bond
funds. Alternative strategies are diversified across absolute return investment approaches and global
tactical asset allocation. Consumers uses annual liability measurements, quarterly portfolio reviews, and
periodic asset/liability studies to evaluate the need for adjustments to the portfolio allocation.

Consumers established union and non-union VEBA trusts to fund its future retiree health and life
insurance benefits. These trusts are funded through the ratemaking process for Consumers and through
direct contributions from the non-utility subsidiaries. Consumers has a target asset allocation of

60 percent equity and 40 percent fixed-income investments. Consumers invests the equity portions of
the union and non-union health care VEBA trusts in a S&P 500 Index fund. Consumers invests the
fixed-income portion of the union health care VEBA trust in domestic investment grade taxable
instruments. Consumers invests the fixed-income portion of the non-union health care VEBA trust in a
diversified mix of domestic tax-exempt securities. The investment selections of each VEBA trust are
influenced by the tax consequences, as well as the objective of generating asset returns that will meet the
medical and life insurance costs of retirees.

Benefit Payments: The expected benefit payments for each of the next five years and the five-year
period thereafter are as follows:

In Millions

Pension SERP OPEB(a)

2010 $ 76 $2 $ 59
2011 83 2 62
2012 92 2 65
2013 101 2 68
2014 111 2 72
2015-2019 691 12 419

(a) Consumers’ OPEB benefit payments are net of employee contributions and expected Medicare
Part D prescription drug subsidy payments. Subsidies to be received are estimated to be $5 million for
2010, $6 million for 2011, $7 million for each of 2012 and 2013, $8 million for 2014, and $48 million
combined for 2015 through 2019.
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12: INCOME TAXES

Consumers files a consolidated federal income tax return and a unitary Michigan income tax return with
CMS Energy and its subsidiaries. Income taxes generally are allocated based on each company’s
separate taxable income in accordance with the CMS Energy tax sharing agreement.

Deferred tax accounting is used for temporary differences. These occur when there are differences
between the book and tax carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. ITC has been deferred and is being
amortized over the estimated service lives of the related properties.

Consumers had a federal tax loss carryforward of $73 million at December 31, 2009, that expires from
2023 through 2028. Consumers expects to use the federal tax loss carryforward prior to its expiration;
thus, no valuation allowance was required.

In addition, Consumers had general business credit carryforwards of $11 million that expire from 2010
through 2030.

Furthermore, at December 31, 2009, Consumers had a benefit of $194 million for future Michigan tax
deductions granted as part of the MBT legislation of 2007.

The significant components of income tax expense (benefit) consisted of:

In Millions
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Current income taxes:
Federal $ 72 $ (10) $ 114
State and local 24 12 -
Income tax benefit of operating loss carryforwards - - (44)
$ 96 $ 2 $ 70
Deferred income taxes:
Federal $ 66 $ 200 $ 59
State and local 5 - -
$ 71 $ 200 $ 59
Deferred ITC, net () @) 4)
Tax expense (benefit) $ 163 $ 198 $125

Current tax expense reflects the settlement of income tax audits for prior years, as well as the provision
for the current year’s income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated
future tax effect of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and the reported
amounts in Consumers’ consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
classified as current or non-current according to the classification of the related assets or liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities not related to assets or liabilities are classified according to the
expected reversal date of the temporary differences.

The amount of income taxes paid is subject to ongoing audits by federal, state, and foreign tax
authorities, which can result in proposed assessments. Consumers’ estimate of the potential outcome for
any uncertain tax issue is highly judgmental. Consumers believes that its accrued tax liabilities at
December 31, 2009 are adequate for all years. The years 2002 through 2007 are under audit by the IRS.
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The principal components of deferred income tax assets (1
Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows:

iabilities) recognized on Consumers’

In Millions
December 31 2009 2008
Current assets (liabilities):
Employee benefits $ (33 $ (100)
Gas inventory (201) (219)
Nuclear decommissioning (including unrecovered costs) 15 -
Reserves and accruals 18 -
Tax loss and credit carryforwards 9 8
Other (14) 34
Net current liability $ (206) $ (277
Noncurrent assets (liabilities):
Employee benefits $ 61 $ 80
Nuclear decommissioning (including unrecovered costs) 17 (20)
Property (1,237) (1,056)
Reserves and accruals 11 -
Securitized costs (141) (161)
Regulatory tax liability 209 205
Tax loss and credit carryforwards 223 213
Other (69) (53)
Net non-current liability $ (926) $ (792
Total deferred income tax liability $(1,132) $ (1,069)

The actual income tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal tax
rate of 35 percent to income before income taxes as follows:

In Millions
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 456 $562 $ 437
Expected income tax expense (benefit) at statutory federal rate 160 197 153
Increase (decrease) in taxes from:
ITC amortization @) 4) @)
Medicare Part D exempt income 6) ®) ()]
Property differences 1 3 9
Research and development credit, net @) - -
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit 19 8 -
Valuation allowance - - 23)
Other, net - .2 )
Income tax expense $163 $198 $125
Effective tax rate 35.7% 35.2% 28.6%
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

In Millions
Years ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Balance at beginning of period $55 $41 $51
Reductions for prior year tax positions 1) - an
Additions for prior year tax positions 2 12 1
Additions for current year tax positions 1 2 -
Balance at end of period $ 57 $55 $41

Included in the balance at December 31, 2009 were $54 million of tax positions for which the ultimate
deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility.
Because of the impact of deferred tax accounting, other than interest and penalties, the disallowance of
the shorter deductibility period would not affect the annual effective tax rate but would accelerate the
payment of cash to the taxing authority to an earlier period. Consumers had unrecognized tax benefits
of $3 million at December 31, 2009, that if recognized would affect the annual effective tax rate in
future years. There were no uncertain tax benefits that would reduce Consumers’ effective tax rate at
December 31, 2008 and 2007. It is reasonably possible that, within the next twelve months, a settlement
will be reached with the IRS on Consumers’ capitalized overhead cost methodology, a timing issue. An
estimate of a settlement range cannot be made at this point.

Consumers recognizes accrued interest and penalties, where applicable, related to uncertain tax benefits
as part of income tax expense. No interest has been recognized related to uncertain tax benefits.

13: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Consumers provides a PISP to key employees and non-employee directors based on their contributions
to the successful management of the company. The PISP has a five-year term, expiring in May 2014.

All grants under the PISP for 2009, 2008, and 2007 were in the form of TSR restricted stock and time-
lapse restricted stock. Restricted stock recipients receive shares of CMS Energy Common Stock that
have full dividend and voting rights. TSR restricted stock vesting is contingent on meeting a three-year
service requirement and specific market conditions. For awards granted in 2008 and 2007, half of the
market condition is based on the achievement of specified levels of TSR over a three-year period and
half is based on a comparison of CMS Energy’s TSR with the median total stockholders’ return of a
peer group over the same three-year period. Depending on the performance of the market, a recipient
may earn a total award ranging from zero to 150 percent of the initial grant. For awards granted in
2009, the market condition is based entirely on a comparison of CMS Energy’s TSR with the median
stockholders’ return of a peer group over the same three-year period. Depending on the performance of
the market, a recipient may earn a total award ranging from zero to 200 percent of the initial grant.
Time-lapse restricted stock vests after a service period of three years. Restricted stock awards granted to
officers in 2007 and 2008 were 80 percent TSR restricted stock and 20 percent time-lapsed restricted
stock. Awards granted to officers in 2009 were 67 percent TSR restricted stock and 33 percent time-

lapse restricted stock.
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All restricted stock awards are subject to forfeiture if employment terminates before the end of the
vesting period. If, however, certain minimum service requirements are met or are waived by action of
the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors, restricted shares may

vest fully upon:

e retirement;
disability; or

o change of control of CMS Energy, as defined by the individual award or, in the absence of such
definition, as defined by the PISP.

The PISP also allows for stock options, stock appreciation rights, phantom shares, and performance
units, none of which were granted in 2009, 2008, or 2007.

Shares awarded or subject to stock options, phantom shares, or performance units may not exceed

6 million shares from June 2009 through May 2014, nor may such awards to any recipient exceed
500,000 shares in any fiscal year. Consumers may issue awards of up to 5,285,993 shares of common
stock under the PISP at December 31, 2009. Shares for which payment or exercise is in cash, as well as
forfeited shares or stock options, may be awarded or granted again under the PISP.

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity under the PISP:

Weighted-Average Grant

Restricted Stock Number of Shares Date Fair Value per Share
Nonvested at December 31, 2008 1,567,920 $12.03
Granted (a) 711,147 13.44
Vested (281,305) 12.60
Forfeited (b) (187,775) 12.00
Nonvested at December 31, 2009 1,809,987 12.50

(a) During 2009, Consumers granted 351,800 TSR shares and 359,347 time-lapse shares of restricted
stock.

(b) During 2009, 173,775 TSR shares granted by Consumers in 2006 were forfeited due to the failure to
meet the specific market conditions.

Consumers charges the fair value of the awards to expense over the required service period. As a result,
Consumers recognizes all compensation expense for share-based awards that have accelerated service
provisions upon retirement by the period in which the employee becomes eligible to retire. Consumers
calculates the fair value of time-lapse restricted stock based on the price of CMS Energy’s common
stock on the grant date. Consumers calculates the fair value of TSR restricted stock awards on the grant
date using a Monte Carlo simulation. Consumers bases expected volatilities on the historical volatility
of the price of CMS Energy Common Stock.
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The risk-free rate for each valuation was based on the three-year U.S. Treasury yield at the award grant
date. The following table summarizes the significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the

TSR restricted stock awards:

2009 2008 2007
Expected volatility 29.79% 19.70% 19.11%
Expected dividend yield 1.96% 2.67% 1.20%
Risk-free rate 1.75% 2.83% 4.59%

The following table summarizes amounts related to restricted stock awards:

In Millions

2009 2008 2007
Fair value of shares vested $ 4 $ 2 $ 10
Compensation expense recognized 8 7 7
Income tax benefit recognized 3 2 2

At December 31, 2009, there was $8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
restricted stock. Consumers expects to recognize this cost over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years.

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the PISP:

Options  Weighted- Weighted-

Outstanding, Average Average Aggregate

Fully Vested, Exercise Remaining Intrinsic

and Price per Contractual Value

Stock Options Exercisable Share Term (In Millions)

Outstanding at December 31, 2008 497,786 $19.81 2.9 years $(@)
Granted - -
Exercised (33,000) $6.99
Cancelled or Expired (86,000) 33.89

Outstanding at December 31, 2009 378,786 17.74 2.3 years $()

Stock options give the holder the right to purchase common stock at the market price on the grant date.
Stock options are exercisable upon grant, and expire up to ten years and one month from the grant date.
Consumers issues new shares when recipients exercise stock options. The total intrinsic value of stock
options exercised was less than $1 million in 2009 and 2008 and $6 million in 2007. Cash received
from exercise of these stock options in 2009 was less than $1 million.
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The following table summarizes the weighted average grant date fair value:

Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Weighted average grant date fair value per share
Restricted stock granted $13.44 $10.43 $14.12
Stock options granted (a) - - -

(a) No stock options were granted in 2009, 2008, or 2007.

14: LEASES

Consumers leases various assets, including service vehicles, railcars, gas pipeline capacity, and
buildings. In addition, Consumers accounts for a number of its PPAs as capital and operating leases.

Operating leases for coal-carrying railcars have lease terms expiring over the next 15 years. These
leases contain fair market value extension and buyout provisions, with some providing for
predetermined extension period rentals. Capital leases for Consumers’ vehicle fleet operations have a
maximum term of 120 months and TRAC end-of-life provisions.

Consumers has capital leases for gas transportation pipelines to the Karn generating complex and
Zeeland. The capital lease for the gas transportation pipeline into the Karn generating complex has a
term of 15 years with a provision to extend the contract from month to month. The capital lease for the
gas transportation pipeline to Zeeland has a lease term of 12 years with a renewal provision at the end of
the contract. The remaining terms of Consumers’ long-term PPAs range between 1 and 21 years. Most
of these PPAs contain provisions at the end of the initial contract terms to renew the agreements

annually.

Consumers is authorized by the MPSC to record both capital and operating lease payments as operating
expense and recover the total cost from customers. The following table summarizes Consumers’ capital

and operating lease expenses:

In Millions
Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 2007
Capital lease expense $38 $ 46 $34
Operating lease expense . 34 27 23

MPSC FORM P-521 (Rev 12-04) Page 123-Notes



Name of Respondent This Report is: Date of Report Year of Report
(1) [X] An Original (mo, Da, Yr)
Consumers Energy Company (2)[ ] A Resubmission 4/16/2010 December 31, 2009

Minimum annual rental commitments under Consumers’ non-cancelable leases at December 31, 2009
were:

In Millions
Capital Leases  Finance Lease (a) Operating Leases
2010 $18 $22 $ 28
2011 17 21 28
2012 20 20 28
2013 12 20 24
2014 10 19 23
2015 and thereafter 54 114 119
Total minimum lease payments $ 131 $216 $250
Less imputed interest 73 55
Present value of net minimum lease $ 58 $161
payments
Less current portion 9 13
Non-current portion $ 49 $ 148

(a) In April 2007, Consumers sold Palisades to Entergy and entered into a 15-year PPA to buy all of the
capacity and energy produced by Palisades. Consumers has continuing involvement with Palisades
through security provided to Entergy for Consumers’ PPA obligation, Consumers’ DOE liability, and
other forms of involvement. Because of these ongoing arrangements, Consumers accounted for the
transaction as a financing of Palisades and not a sale. Accordingly, no gain on the sale of Palisades was
recognized on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Consumers accounted for the remaining
non-real-estate assets and liabilities associated with the transaction as a sale.

Palisades remains on Consumers’ Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consumers continues to depreciate
it. Consumers recorded the related proceeds as a finance obligation with payments recorded to interest
expense and the finance obligation based on the amortization of the obligation over the life of the
Palisades PPA. The value of the finance obligation was determined based on an allocation of the
transaction proceeds to the fair values of the net assets sold and fair value of the plant asset under the
financing. Total amortization and interest charges under the financing were $23 million for each of the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.
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15: PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The following table summarizes Consumers’ property, plant, and equipment:

In Millions
Estimated
Depreciable

Years ended December 31 Life in Years 2009 2008
Electric:

Generation 18-85 $3,671 $3,357

Distribution 12-75 4,991 4,766

Other 7-40 574 551

Capital and finance leases (a) 289 291
Gas:

Underground storage facilities (b) 30-65 299 270

Transmission 13-75 573 473

Distribution 30-80 2,557 2,460

Other 5-50 366 398

Capital leases (a) 17 21
Other non-utility property 7-71 15 15
Construction work in progress 505 607
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization (c) 4,386 4,242
Net property, plant, and equipment (d) $9,471 $ 8,967

(a) Capital and finance leases presented in this table are gross amounts. Accumulated amortization of
capital and finance leases was $84 million at December 31, 2009 and $79 million at

December 31, 2008. Additions were $16 million and net retirements and adjustments were $22 million
during 2009. Additions were $5 million and net retirements and adjustments were $3 million during

2008.

(b) Included base natural gas in underground storage of $26 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
which is not subject to depreciation.

(c) At December 31, 2009, accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization included $4.4 billion
from Consumers’ utility plant assets and $1 million from non-utility plant assets. At

December 31, 2008, accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization included $4.2 billion from
Consumers’ utility plant assets and $1 million from non-utility plant assets.

(d) At December 31, 2009, utility plant additions were $928 million and utility plant retirements,

including other plant adjustments, were $171 million. At December 31, 2008, utility plant additions
were $629 million and utility plant retirements, including other plant adjustments, were $60 million.
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Intangible Assets: Included in net property, plant, and equipment are intangible assets. The following
table summarizes Consumers’ intangible assets:

In Millions

Years ended December 31 2009 2008
Amortization Gross Cost  Accumulated  Gross Cost ~ Accumulated
Description Life in years (a) Amortization (@ Amortization
Software development 7-15 $303 $105 $370 $192
Plant acquisition adjustments 40 214 11 214 6
Rights of way 50-75 134 35 118 33
Leasehold improvements various 13 9 11 9
Franchises and consents n/a 15 6 14 6
Other intangibles n/a 18 13 18 13
Total $ 697 $179 $ 745 $259

(a) Intangible asset additions for Consumers’ utility plant were $62 million during 2009and

$163 million during 2008, which included $161 million related to the installation and operation of a
new integrated business software system. Retirements were $110 million during 2009. There were no
intangible asset retirements during 2008.

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $30 million in 2009, $32 million in 2008, and

$21 million in 2007. Included in total amortization expense for intangible assets was computer software
amortization expense of $22 million in 2009, $23 million in 2008, and $18 million in 2007.
Amortization of intangible assets is expected to range between $30 million and $33 million per year
over the next five years.

16: ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations: Consumers records the fair value of the cost to
remove assets at the end of their useful lives, if there is a legal obligation to remove them.

If a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be made in the period in which the ARO is incurred, such
as for assets with indeterminate lives, the liability is recognized when a reasonable estimate of fair value
can be made. Consumers has not recorded liabilities for assets that have insignificant cumulative
disposal costs, such as substation batteries.
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The following table lists the assets that Consumers has legal obligations to remove at the end of their
useful lives and for which it has an ARO liability recorded:

In-Service
Company and ARO Description Date Long-Lived Assets
Closure of coal ash disposal areas Various  Generating plants coal ash areas
Closure of wells at gas storage fields Various  Gas storage fields

Indoor gas services equipment relocations ~ Various

Asbestos abatement

1973

Gas distribution cut, purge and cap Various

Gas meters located inside structures
Electric and gas utility plant
Gas distribution mains and services

No assets have been restricted for purposes of settling AROs.

The following tables summarize the changes in the ARO liability:

In Millions

ARO ARO

Liability Cash flow  Liability

Company and ARO Description 12/31/08 Incurred  Settled (a) Accretion Revisions 12/31/09
Coal ash disposal areas $ 62 $ - $ @ $ 6 $ - $ 64
Wells at gas storage fields 1 - - - - 1
Indoor gas services relocations 1 - - - - 1
Asbestos abatement 36 - 1) 3 - 38
Gas distribution cut, purge, cap 105 15 3) 7 - 124
Total Consumers $ 205 $ 15 $ (8) $16 $ - $228
In Millions

ARO ARO

Liability Cash flow  Liability

Company and ARO Description 12/31/07 Incurred  Settled (a) Accretion Revisions 12/31/08
Coal ash disposal areas $ 59 $ - $ 3 $ 6 $ - $ 62
Wells at gas storage fields 1 - - - - 1
Indoor gas services relocations 1 - - - - 1
Asbestos abatement 36 - 2) 2 - 36
Gas distribution cut, purge, cap 101 (D) 2) 7 - 105
Total Consumers $ 198 $ () $ (D $ 15 $ - $ 205

(a) Cash payments of $8 million in 2009 and $7 million in 2008 were included in the Other current and
non-current liabilities line in Net cash provided by operating activities in Consumers’ Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows.
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17: JOINTLY OWNED REGULATED UTILITY FACILITIES

Consumers has investments in jointly owned regulated utility facilities, as shown in the following table:

In Millions
Ownership Accumulated Construction
Share Net Investment (a) Depreciation Work in Progress
December 31 (%) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
$ 14 $ 19
Campbell Unit 3 93.3 $ 662 $675 $387 $ 360
Ludington 51.0 62 61 111 107 5 7
105
Distribution Various 96 43 41 7 3

(a) Net investment is the amount of utility plant in service less accumulated depreciation.

Consumers includes its share of the direct expenses of the jointly owned plants in Operating Expenses.
Consumers shares operation, maintenance, and other expenses of these jointly owned utility facilities in
proportion to each participant’s undivided ownership interest. Consumers is required to provide only its
share of financing for the jointly owned utility facilities.

18: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Consumers enters into a number of significant transactions with related parties. These transactions
include:

e purchase and sale of electricity from and to CMS Enterprises;
e payment of parent company overhead costs to CMS Energy; and
¢ investment in CMS Energy Common Stock.

Transactions involving power supply purchases from certain affiliates of CMS Enterprises are based on
avoided costs under PURPA, state law, and competitive bidding. The payment of parent company
overhead costs is based on the use of accepted industry allocation methodologies. These payments are
for costs that occur in the normal course of business. Consumers recorded income and expense from

related parties as follows:
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In Millions
Description Related Party 2009 2008 2007
Dividend income CMS Energy $ 1 $ 1 $ 1
Type of Expense:
Electric generating capacity and energy Affiliates of
CMS Enterprises (81) (75) (79)
Interest expense on note payable CMS Energy and
Consumers’ affiliated
Trust Preferred
Securities Companies - - )
Gas Transportation (a) CMS Bay Area Pipeline
L.L.C. - - 1)

(a) CMS Bay Area Pipeline, L.L.C. was sold to Lucid Energy in March 2007.

Amounts receivable from related parties for various services and employee benefits were $2 million at
December 31, 2009 and 2008. Amounts payable to related parties for purchased power were
$11 million at December 31, 2009 and $14 million at December 31, 2008.
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